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SENATOR MARTHA ESCUTIA, CHAIR:  I thank all of you for coming today to the Joint Interim Hearing--a joint hearing of the Senate Health and Human Services Committee and the Senate Agriculture and Water Resources Committee.  And I thank my dear colleague, Senator Costa, for being here today, as well as all of you for being here and showing an interest in what’s obviously a very, very interesting subject matter.


We might get, later on, Senator Theresa Hughes, who is also a member of the Senate Health Committee.  She might join us shortly.


We have, today, a distinguished panel of nutritionists, economists and other representatives, with an expertise in osteoporosis, as well as the Women, Infant and Children (WIC) Supplemental Nutrition Program.  We had also invited the California Department of Food and Agriculture to participate, but they chose not to participate because of pending lawsuits against the department as a result of, I suppose, that litigation dealing with the--(microphone adjustment)  


Basically, the purpose of this hearing is to determine the nutritional differences between various types of milk made according to either federal standards and made according to California standards.  And I also would like to find out what are--whether there are any public health benefits of the California standard and, frankly, whether it’s worth the cost.  It’s an issue that has definitely many of us moms extremely interested.  And you know, prior to coming here, I spoke to my mother-in-law, who is my barometer for things of this type of nature, as a consumer, and also as a grandmother, as to what she felt about that, so she gave me a very interesting perspective on this issue. 


And finally I would like to share a one-page summary of information on the nutritional differences between these two standards which have been provided by the Department of Health Services and Marion Nessel, who is with the Department of Nutritional Food Studies at New York University.  And also, I would like to provide retail price differences of federal milk versus California milk, which has also been provided to us by the California Department of Food and Agriculture for the month of September 1999, and you will see that in graph number four in the information packet.


I’d like to now turn it over to my colleague, Senator Costa.


SENATOR JIM COSTA, CO-CHAIR:  Thank you very much, Senator Escutia.  It’s very good that we have had an opportunity for both policy committees to have an opportunity to hold an interim hearing together to deal with the nutritional standards affecting the California milk products that, I think, are vital and important to the consumers in California.  And since, obviously, this is an issue that affects both policy committees, it’s appropriate, and I think, proper, to have this joint hearing.  It allows our witnesses to do this together and do it once, and it saves people time.  And I want to thank you for your willingness to do this.  I think it’s important when policy committees deal with issues that overlap, that they do the issues together.  I think it brings members of the committees together, and hopefully, provides for better understanding, together, of the issues.


Let me wish everyone happy holidays, and good morning.  We’re glad to have you here.  This is that time of the year when we know everyone is busy.


Let me make a few comments as it relates to the subject matter before us and then get on with our witnesses.  And for those of you who have ever been in a committee that is chaired my colleague or myself, we like you to be to the point and concise, and that way the hearing flows, we think, better, and we get our ground covered.  And we also have a time factor, I understand.  We have to be out of here around noontime.


The comments that I would like to make as it relates to the issues of nutritional standards of California milk, cost versus the public health benefits, which is the subject of this morning’s hearing, as we all know, California has higher standards in the production of the milk that we sell on the shelf and the milk products that are consumed by our consumers.  It has been a tradition that has been established over many decades, but it is a tradition that really follows precedent in a host of issues that Californians have chosen to follow a different path in.  We have higher, we think, health quality standards in California on a host of issues that involve clean air.  They involve the use of pesticides and herbicides.  They involve safety of transportation.  And the reason for that is simple--the California Legislature and the governor, for a number of decades, have determined that in fact, as is allowed under the U.S. Constitution, that state law can supercede that of federal standards and we believe that in that way we have not only provided greater safety margins for Californians, but in many ways have allowed for new technological innovations to occur as we try to make ourselves competitive on a worldwide, global economy.  So there is not only precedent, but there is certainly, I think, some very important reasons why standards in a host of areas exceed that of the federal standards.  And in the area of milk this is one of those examples.


Now, I think when you try to add--well, you know, maybe it’s nice to have higher standards, but why should we do that?  Well, let me refer you to graph-2 in the reference of material that Chairperson Escutia indicated, that talked about a host of table of contents that we think provide some very important information.  It’s very clear on graph-2, that the milk consumption and the milk products consumption in California, has over a period of time, not only declined, but now it is below the national average.  We know that our children, who like all children, are bombarded by a host of multi-media information on a daily basis.  There is, in their diet, a competition for other products in which they consume in their diet.  Some of those products are not as healthy, but those products, unfortunately, are seen on television, heard on the radio, and many of the other kinds of forms of media that they receive.  Consequently, there a host of reasons why consumption of fluid milk has continued to decline, and in some cases, and in California’s case, dropped below the national average.  We think, as difficult as it is to get a child to drink a glass or two of milk a day, the fortification of that product therefore then makes a good deal of sense.


Now we talk about price factor and price sensitivity, and consumers, I think it’s very important to be noted as to the cost of the milk products that they consume, as it relates to the other grocery items that they consume, as it relates to their cost of living.  There are a number of factors in California that lead to the cost of milk to the consumer.


Milk pricing prohibits predatory pricing of retail prices.  I think as we get more into the subject matter this morning, we’ll see that there is a minimum price paid to producers.  It’s set by a formula.


December 1st of this year, it was about 50 cents.  And as of January 1 of next year, it will drop another 15 cents, and the producers of milk in California, as a result of the drop in January, will find themselves in a 15-year low in the price of milk that they receive to the producer.  What we’ll see is that there are wide variations in terms of where the other parts of the price is set.  The producer price is indexed to the market price that deals with other milk products such as butter, cheese, that have a longer shelf life.  Therefore, you have a situation where, at the retail level, the prices in some cases are higher, but to California dairy farmers, as of January 1, it will become an all-time low.


Let me finally state that as it relates to concerns about being competitive, not only in California, but among other states, we have always felt that it’s important that other producers be able to compete in California’s market as long as they meet California’s standards.  The fact of the matter is that there is tremendous out-of-state importation of dairy products that do meet milk standards in California.  In 1998, there were 63 million gallons of out-of-state bulk milk that were brought into California for manufacturing and packaging, and that doesn’t include the other types of packaged milk products that are in the market.


So, I think this morning’s hearing is an opportunity to provide additional light to the subject matter as we try to balance our children’s nutritional needs, and at the same time, insure that California consumers are getting the best buy for their dollar and allow for our dairy farmers to compete here in California, which we think is also important.

When we talk about California’s agriculture production, we, for 50 years, have been the number one agricultural state of the nation.  People oftentimes think of our wines and they think of our produce, but for three years now, the number one commodity that we produce in this state has been milk, and that’s not oftentimes realized.  So, we have a balance of issues that we need to discuss here this morning and I’m looking forward to the testimony.


Chairman Escutia, thank you again for allowing both committees to hold this hearing.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you very much, Chairman Costa.  I’m going to ask two professors to come up, and I think their testimony is very critical in the sense that it provides a road map, so to say, or it gives context to the purpose of this hearing.  And I could say that, myself, as a mother of two young kids, a four-year old and a one-year old, the issue of milk and the issue of it’s nutritional content is one that’s incredibly important to me, but also the issue of price.  And when you start remembering when you look at the graph, which is basically facts that we have gotten from Departments, that milk consumption has gone down, yet the price of milk has gone up.  As a matter of fact, 42 cents it went up in October.  If I remember my elements of Economic 101 at USC, when production is high but demand is low, when supply is high but demand is low, you would think that the price somehow has to go down.  At least that’s what the economists at USC taught me.  So, I’m still trying to figure out why the price is high if there is really not much of a demand for milk because the demand has gone down.  Second of all, I’m still trying to figure out as a consumer; I’m not a scientist; I’m not also, a member of the Agricultural Committee; I’m not an expert in dairy issues, but when I look at these labels in terms of their nutritional content, they look pretty identical to me, other than California milk has additional fat solids, or solids, not fat--I really don’t know what the term of art is--and therefore results in higher calories.  You could even make the argument, “it probably tastes better,” also.  But the question is, because of that additional solids not fat, and perhaps, better tasting milk, does that mean we should pay more for it?  And that’s a question that I would like to have answered by our next presenters who--one of them is Professor Gail Harrison, who will provide a five-minute summary of the nutritional issues that should be covered in today’s hearing.  And Professor Harrison is a professor in the School of Public Health at UCLA, and also Social Director of UCLA’s Center for Human Nutrition.  After Professor Harrison’s five minute summary, I would like to invite Professor Gary Galles, an economist at Pepperdine University, to provide a five-minute summary of the economic issues that should be discussed at today’s hearing.  So Professor Gail Harrison and Professor Galles, if you can just step forward here to the table, and probably both of you will shoot me down for my very rudimentary explanation of what I thought were theories of supply and demand.  I’m sure I’ll hear from the economist because I didn’t do too well in Economics 101, so I’m willing to be corrected.


Professor Gail Harrison, welcome.


PROFESSOR GAIL HARRISON:  Thank you.  Senator Escutia and Senator Costa, and other members of the committees, I really thank you for the opportunity to be here and to present some information relevant to this complex set of issues that you are dealing with about the nutritional standards for fluid milk in California.


As was mentioned, I’m a professor of public health at UCLA.  I chair the Department of Community Health Sciences and serve in the Center for Human Nutrition as Associate Director.  My background is in human nutrition, particularly in assessment of nutritional status in populations and in the functional consequences of malnutrition.  I’ve served on various committees regarding nutritional assessment issues for the Department of Agriculture at the federal level, as well as for other bodies--the National Academies of Sciences and National Institute of Health.


Before just summarizing very briefly the main points of my testimony for which I’ll provide fuller details later, I’d also like to mention that Professor Charlotte Newman from UCLA is here today in the audience.  Professor Newman is a pediatrician, Professor of Pediatrics and Public Health and very well-known for her work in nutrition of mothers and children, and she might be able to address some of the questions that you might have, particularly, I think you just raised the potential issues of obesity in children, and calories, and other aspects.


You have, I think--if you don’t have, you will have soon, a copy of my written testimony which has supporting data which we will go into later, but just very briefly, let me just summarize the main points.


First, nutritionally, milk is enormously important, particularly for women and children in the U.S. context, but not only for women and children, everybody needs calcium.  Milk is a major contributor to calcium intake.


SENATOR COSTA:  Everybody needs milk, right?


DR. HARRISON:  Everybody needs the nutrients.


Calcium intake, particularly, is important on a lifelong basis.  Adequate dietary calcium plays a clear role in the prevention of osteoporosis, and very probably roles in the prevention of high blood pressure and of colon cancer.  As a population, we don’t drink enough milk.  The graphs that were mentioned earlier are certainly indicative.  National data indicate that 40 percent of adult women in the U.S., and 20 percent of children get less than half of the recommended intake of calcium.  Milk is a good source of other nutrients, too, but they don’t tend to be nutrients that are low or limiting in U.S. diets.


In California, as has already been mentioned, per capita consumption of milk has dropped to a level below the rest of the country in spite of the fact that we have the largest dairy industry of any state in the union.  According to the Department of Health Services, only half of California adults report drinking milk on any given day.


My second main point is that the nutritional differences between California milk and milk in the rest of the country are, in my opinion, inconsequential.  There is more calcium in the reduced fat California milk, but 60 percent of milk consumption in California is whole milk, and another 16 percent is fat-free milk--together those are 60 percent.  It’s 40 percent and 16 percent.  More than half is that combination for which there are indisputably no differences in calcium content between California milk and milk in the rest of the country.


If the prices of fluid milk were to drop in California, milk consumption is likely to rise.  Even a very modest rise in milk intake would result in increased calcium intake.  On average, several times greater than any advantage currently accruing from the different milk composition standards in California.


My third and final point has to do with cost.  A conservative estimate is that the cost of milk in California--the cost differential compared to the rest of the country--amounts to approximately a bit over $50 million a year in school feeding, elderly nutrition, WIC and other programs for which milk is purchased, and provides WIC services additionally to almost 11,000 mothers and children who need those services every month.  The public health cost and the dollar cost to taxpayers mandates, I believe, that steps should be taken to reduce the price of fluid milk in California and bringing milk composition standards in line with the rest of the country, in my judgement, would be to the advantage of both the consumer’s pocketbook and the public’s health.


Thank you very much and I’ll expand on these later, if you wish.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you very much, Professor.  I just want to go straight to the other professor so that we can just put everything in context and then we will ask questions later.


PROFESSOR GARY GALLES:  I also appreciate the chance to come and address you.  What I looked at partly takes as given, what Professor Harrison --


SENATOR COSTA:  For the record, please identify yourself and who you are representing.


DR. GALLES:  I’m Gary Galles, a Professor of Economics at Pepperdine University.


SENATOR COSTA:  Thank you.


DR. GALLES:  I take as given, that calcium is crucial for health, all the things that the nutrition panel will verify in that case, so that’s taken as given.  And what I did is ask a logical question, right?  Is the history, the form, all those things about these various standards consistent with the intent to benefit California consumers?  And what I found was, or what I will present in a little more detail later, is that there are five different areas of evidence that are inconsistent with the argument that these were adopted to benefit consumers.  You have, I believe, the materials I had given you.  These are what are on the first page and then the conclusion.  Well, I’ll share those quickly.


Do California’s unique milk composition standards which require a higher minimum level of non-fat milk solids than the FDA standards and the rest of the U.S., provide public health benefits that are worth the added costs?  No.  There are several kinds of evidence, as I mentioned, which are listed on your materials, and I’ll just go over them very quickly.


First, if California’s “higher” milk standards were intended to provide health benefits to milk consumers, those standards should have been created in response to health concerns about Californian’s calcium and protein intake.  They were not.  


Second, if California’s higher milk standards were intended to provide health benefits to milk consumers from added calcium and potential protein, the form those standards would take should be consistent with that goal.  They are not.


Third, if California’s higher milk standards were intended to provide health benefits to milk consumers from added calcium, the price per unit of calcium in California milk, particularly the more fortified varieties--one and two percent milk, but one percent in particular--should be lower than elsewhere where the comparisons are based on either minimum milk standards or tested milk composition.  It is not.


Fourth, if California’s higher milk standards were intended to provide health benefits to milk consumers from added calcium, they should result in an increase in the amount of calcium Californian’s consume.  It has not.


Fifth, if California’s higher milk producers intended to benefit milk consumers, their other milk policies should also be consistent with that goal.  They are not.


In all five of those areas what would have to be true if these were to represent the interest of California consumers is not true.  My conclusion--and we’ll talk more about the supplementary stuff--is that California’s higher milk standards are not intended to, and do not, benefit California milk consumers.  They result in marginal increases in our milk’s calcium content, at best, but large increases in our milk prices, benefiting in-state milk suppliers at consumer’s expense.  Reinforced by other anti-competitive policies, they raise consumer prices per unit of calcium and reduce calcium consumption, an ironic result for a policy supposedly justified as a way to increase calcium consumption.


Thank you.  I think I even did it under five minutes, which my students would deny I could do.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Well, I have a question, because in one of your five elements, the question that dealt with--if California’s higher milk standards were intended to provide health benefits to consumers from the added calcium and protein, the form the standards should take should be consistent with that goal.  They are not.  You’re saying that they were not adopted for nutritional purposes?


DR. GALLES:  Each of these five points is discussed inside where there is more evidence.  The most important piece of evidence there is that --


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  That’s not what I want to hear.  I want to hear your evidence.  I mean, you know, conclusions are easy to state, but I would like to hear your backup information.


DR. GALLES:  Okay.  The evidence is if you want to go to that point now, this is listed inside--which is that, number three?


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Or number two.


DR. GALLES:  Number two.  The form of these things.  In that sense, each of these scenarios --


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Professor, let me just stop you there, because my staff just told me that you’re going to be part of the second panel, or the first panel where we can discuss the evidence in further details.


And I would like, now, to invite Senator Costa to bring forth his witnesses.


SENATOR COSTA:  All right.  Thank you.  You’re both going to testify in the panel, right?


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Yes, they are.


SENATOR COSTA:  So what I’ll do is withhold my questions to the panel portions just so that we can get to the panel portion.  The two witnesses I have for some summary of issues--with the admonition, as my colleague indicated, that you’ll be five minutes or less, and to the point and concise because we want to get to the panels--is Jo Ann Hattner, who is a pediatric nutrition specialist who I’d like to come and provide a brief summary.  And Mr. Mike Boccodoro, who is also going to provide some bullet points as it relates to the issue, and then we’ll get to our panel members.


How are you doing this morning?


MS. JO ANN HATTNER:  Good, thanks.


SENATOR COSTA:  Ms. Hattner.


MS. HATTNER:  Do you want me to go first?


SENATOR COSTA:  Yes.  Did I get your title correct?  Pediatric nutrition specialist.


MS. HATTNER:  Right.  Jo Ann Hattner.  I have a Masters in Public Health from Berkeley, and I’m a certified pediatric nutritionist, as well as a registered dietician with American Dietetic Association in their credentialing service.  I have a number of years experience at Stanford as a pediatric nutritionist, in nutrition and gastroenterology, and I have been working for the last year as a consultant to “Californians for Nutritious Milk,” which is a coalition of nutrition professionals, health professionals, educators, and it is funded by the dairy processors and producers.


We have talked about how milk consumption is going down, and I think I want to first make the point of what this means to our youth of today and what this means to California youth.  And if I could use the chart, I don’t know if--can you see the chart?  Or do you want to move it closer?


SENATOR COSTA:  You might move it a little closer there.  I’m getting older and I’m going to need glasses, I think.


MS. HATTNER:  The most complete data that we have, and this is looking at U.S. children, and this is dietary intake, data of individuals in 1994, conducted by U.S.D.A., and really what it shows us, is at the bottom is the recommended dietary allowance for calcium.  And then as we go up the chart, we have age groups.  And the most profound finding out of this study is that 85 percent of teenage girls are not receiving the recommended dietary allowance for calcium.  Boys are also a concern, with 65 percent of teen boys not receiving the recommended dietary allowance for calcium.  Boys do tend to eat more calories, so they have a little higher percentage than the girls.  But when you look at 85 percent of teen girls not receiving calcium recommendations--this is on a national level.

We talked about milk intake is going down.  Fluid milk intake is going down.  There are many reasons why fluid milk intake is going down, and some of those reasons that have been really discussed, and studies in nutrition relate more to the other beverages that are coming in and replacing fluid milk, including sodas, including juices, including bottled water.  So I don’t think we can relate the price of milk to the decrease in drinking fluid milk as much as we can to other practices that are coming in.  This has resulted in what we call a calcium deficit or a calcium crisis that’s going on today nationwide.


The second chart is looking at California’s higher milk quality standards and how they compare to the federal standards of milk.  The chart to the right compares the whole milk, the two percent milk, the one percent milk and the non-fat milk.  And as was mentioned in the previous testimony, it is the two percent milk with the 21 percent advantage, meaning 21 percent more calcium, and the one percent which is the 33 percent more calcium in California milk; the California advantage.

Now in our surveys of where milk is going into schools, and what kind milk is going into schools, it is the two percent and the one percent that is going to California schools, giving our California children an extra advantage of calcium.  That is only going to make our children a bit closer to meeting recommended dietary allowances for calcium.  It doesn’t completely solve the problem because we know that they maybe averaging only two to three glasses a day, so we’re going to have to look to the other sources in the diet, as well.  But to get that little extra advantage out of the milk, to me, as a pediatric nutritionist, is worth so much in terms of childhood nutrition.  Thank you.


SENATOR COSTA:  Thank you very much.  Our next witness.  And you were brief and under your five minutes and we appreciate that.  Mr. Boccodoro.


MR. MICHAEL BOCCODORO:  Michael Boccodoro, on behalf of the Californians for Nutritious Milk.  And Senator and Madam Chair, I appreciate the opportunity, as always, to testify before the California Legislature.


The primary reason we are all here today is because a billion dollar Arizona company, Shamrock Foods, has an economic interest in selling lower quality, less nutritious milk to California customers.  The California Dairy Industry has an economic interest, as well, to continue to provide the same high quality, more nutritious milk that Californians have come to expect and rely on for the past 37 years.  Ultimately, the goal of all of us, as participants here today, is to discuss what is in the best economic and nutritional interest of California consumers.  What you’re going to hear today is compelling testimony that will once and for all dispel the myths that have been propagated by a multi-million dollar campaign financed by Shamrock Foods, that somehow allowing the sale of lower quality, less nutritious milk will somehow benefit California consumers.


The testimony presented by Jo Ann Hattner, Bob Reynolds, our retail economist, and Robin Reiner, our osteoporosis expert, will show:  one, that there is no question that milk produced at California’s higher standards is far superior nutritionally to milk found in Phoenix or anywhere else in the nation.  That California’s milk prices, even with the higher standards, are well within the range of prices found in other major urban areas throughout the country.


The discussion is not about choice.  While adults can make choices, children in our schools cannot.  And make no mistake about it, Shamrock’s business is about selling to institutions like schools.  That’s what this debate is about today.


We’ve heard arguments about barriers to entering California.  And Senator Costa, I think you did a fantastic job of talking about the milk that comes into California everyday.  There are a number of producers from out-of-state, Model Dairy in Reno, Nevada, Dairy Gold out of Oregon, Horizon out of Reno and Colorado, that bring packaged milk into California everyday.  And as you so correctly pointed out, bulk milk is moving into California in significant amounts, almost 65 million gallons last year.


There aren’t barriers.  It is interesting, the company that is doing business in California, Model Dairy, wrote a letter to this committee several months ago, to the Ag Committee, when we were debating Senator Bowen’s bill, and Model Dairy stated at that time that they not only didn’t face barriers to doing business in California, but they’ve actually been doing business here for 25 years.


The barriers argument has come from Shamrock Foods, a company that isn’t doing business in California.  And I have to ask, who are we going to believe, the company who is bringing milk into California and has been doing it for 25 years, or the company that says they can’t and isn’t?


You’re also going to hear, as I think Dr. Galles began to talk about, that there’s insignificant differences in the calcium.  There’s, frankly, a 33 percent difference in the calcium in one percent milk, and a 21 percent difference in the calcium in two percent milk.  That’s very significant--33 and 21 percent.  And it’s made more significant--you’ve got a little hogwash this morning when they said, whole milk and skim milk account for practically 60 percent of sales.  What they leave out of that equation is the fact that two percent and one percent milk are the milks that are not only predominantly being served in our schools, but that they’re the milks that are predominantly being consumed by our youngsters--school age children.  Well, the overall population may consume more whole milk than the others.  Overwhelmingly, school age children consume two percent and one percent.  And as Jo Ann has so accurately portrayed, that is our target audience with calcium.  That is when you’re building bone, and you’ll hear about that today.


On a final note, every major health organization currently recognizes the calcium crisis that is facing our country.  The simple questions that policy makers must consider, is why would we want to reduce the calcium in our milk at a time when we are facing a calcium crisis among children?  That, more than anything else, I think should color today’s discussion in terms of what common sense does it make as food manufacturers are scrambling to put calcium into everything?  Why would we want to take it out of the milk supply, which is the primary source of calcium both in our youngsters as well as in our elderly?  That’s a significant issue that must be addressed by this committee today.


SENATOR COSTA:  Thank you very much.  And now we’ll move onto the panels.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Yes.  Our first panel is panel-A that will be discussing the nutritional standards of California milk versus out-of-state milk.  And if we can get these people up here.  On behalf of state agencies we have Tameron Mitchell.  On nutritionists, we have Gail Harrison and Jo Ann Hattner and also Robin Reiner.


SENATOR COSTA:  And as our witnesses are coming forward, we have Senator Bowen’s representative here, who I failed to acknowledge.  Evan Goldberg, who is a very effective staff member and one of California’s loyal public servants, and we appreciate you being here on behalf of Senator Bowen.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Now, for the information for the panel members, there are also some individuals who are in the audience that are also experts in the field, so if for some reason some of the questions we may ask we cannot answer, we might be able to go to the audience where there are some experts available for us.  So, I just wanted to let you know that.


MS. TAMERON MITCHELL:  Good morning, Senator Escutia and Senator Costa.  My name is Tameron Mitchell and I’m Deputy Director for Primary Care and Family Health in the State Department of Health Services.  I’m also a registered dietician, and I hold a Masters Degree in Public Health Nutrition.


We have prepared testimony that is relating to the question that was posed to the Department to make comments about the nutritional differences in California standard milk in relation to federal standard milk and the differences that these may have on health.


As has been stated previously, federal regulations, as you know, requires that milk sold in the United States contain a minimum of milk solids, not fat.  California law enacted in the 1960s, requires a higher standard for milk solids.  These standards range from 8.7 percent of solids, not fat, in whole milk to 9 percent in non-fat milk, and for one and two percent fat milk, 11 percent solids, not fat, and 10 percent solids, not fat, respectively.


In one and two percent milk, those are the two types of milk that typically require milk solids to be added during processing in order to consistently achieve the higher California standard.  There are no significant nutritional differences between the California and federal whole and non-fat milks because solids are not added to those milks because seasonal and other natural variations in milk quality naturally achieve the California standard.


There are differences between the reduced fat milks, the one and two percent milk, due to the addition of solids.  And the most significant, from a nutritional standpoint, is the degree of calcium in the milk.  Based upon varying estimates of that difference, it’s as much as 33 percent more calcium in one percent calcium California milk than in federal standard milk.


There are differences in the estimates of the range of calcium in California standard versus federal standard milk, and there is a need for more thorough investigation of the nutrient content differences between the California milk and standard milks in order to hold all of the variables constant, and to assure that the values being compared are not due to seasonal or other geographic variations.


The Dairy Council estimates, as was testified earlier, that a 33 percent difference exists in calcium content in the one percent California milk as compared to out-of-state milk meeting minimum federal standards.


In terms of cholesterol, the content is very similar across all types of milk.

In terms of the carbohydrate or lactose, the differences are an estimated to be relatively insignificant.  However, whatever the small variations, what effect they may have on individuals who are lactose intolerant is not currently known.

In terms of sodium, there is a difference of estimated 37 milligrams per cup.  A higher amount of sodium in California one percent milk than in the federal milk.  Whether this 37 milligram difference per cup is significant to health, really depends upon individual intake, the health status of the individual, and the level of sodium restriction that’s required.


In terms of calories per cup, the differences range from no difference for whole milk, to 19 calories per cup for two percent milk, 18 calories per cup difference for one percent milk.  The caloric differences in the California standard versus the federal standard milk are attributable to the higher protein and carbohydrate content of California standard milk.  And from a health standpoint, increased calories per cup in the form of protein and carbohydrate are preferable to increased fat calories from drinking a larger volume of milk in order to achieve the same overall nutrient intake with federal milk.


With respect to the effects on chronic disease, inadequate nutrition and physical activity are leading causes of chronic diseases, including osteoporosis, heart disease, cancer and others.  According the National Institute of Health Consensus Development Conference's statement on optimal calcium intake in 1994, a large percentage of Americans failed to meet currently recommended guidelines for optimal calcium intake for bone health.  And the preferred dietary sources of calcium are calcium rich foods such as dairy products.


Because of the sub-optimal calcium intake and the potential impact on the health of Americans and Californians, increasing calcium intake is an objective in the Healthy People 2000 agenda, a national strategy to improve the health of all Americans.  In addition, in 1997, the National Academy of Sciences recommended to increase calcium intake for most age groups.


The mission of the California Department of Health Services is to reduce the occurrence of preventable disease, disability and premature death among all Californians.  Preventable diseases that are affected by California’s higher milk fortification standards--I will discuss now.


In terms of calcium and osteoporosis, you will hear from other witnesses expert in this area, but basically, osteoporosis is a bone loss.  It is characterized by thinning of the bones and these are lessor stages of bone loss that precede and predict osteoporosis.  It’s estimated that approximately 

1.5 million bone fractures each year in the United States are attributable to osteoporosis.  According to a national health and nutrition examination survey, bone mineral density was used to define osteoporosis, and based on this survey there is an estimated 4 to 6 million people in the country, which represents 13 to 18 percent of women aged 50 or greater, with osteoporosis.  In California, there is an estimated 6.5 million people with osteoporosis.


Peak adult bone mass is achieved in the first two to three decades of life, and calcium is a major component of mineralized tissue.  Thus, calcium intake during these years is critical to achieving optimal peak bone mass.  The consequences of low calcium intake during this crucial period of rapid skeletal growth may seriously compromise adult peak bone mass.  Calcium is also critical for the maintenance of bone mass during later years of life, modifying the rate of bone loss associated with aging.


The best defense against osteoporosis is a diet rich in calcium and vitamin D, combined with regular strength building exercise, and to initiate preventative measures early in life to prevent osteoporosis and its debilitating effects.

Reducing the California milk solids standard may remove an important source of calcium necessary for osteoporosis prevention efforts.  In terms of other calcium and other chronic diseases, calcium’s positive impact on hypertension has long been suspected and has been supported recently in a clinical study, "Dietary Approaches To Stop Hypertension."

The precise relationship of diet to colon cancer is not completely understood.  However, it’s known that dietary changes have the potential to substantially reduce colon cancer deaths.

Recent studies support high calcium intake, especially from milk, may be related to the lower risk of colon cancer.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  If you can summarize.  You’re way beyond your five minutes.

MS. MITCHELL:  Okay.  I will go quickly.

In terms of milk consumption, you have all heard from other witnesses that Californians, based on a California Department of Health Services 1997 Dietary Practices survey, that only half of Californians surveyed drank milk on the day prior to this survey.  In addition, the national data indicate that there is approximately 20 percent in decline in national milk consumption since 1970.  Milk can also be a major contributor to excess saturated fat in the diet, so it is important to encourage consumers to increase the intake of low-fat and non-fat dietary foods, and in our public health programs, that is the approach that we are now taking to prevent obesity, the risk of heart disease, and certain cancers.

California milk consumption jumped by 33 percent between 1989 and 1991, when one percent milk came into the market, according to our dietary surveys.

In terms of fortification, there is no guarantee that changing the California milk solid standard will result in price decreases to the consumer.  The data discussed above indicate that lowering calcium in milk may result in increased rates of chronic diseases such as osteoporosis, hypertension and colon rectal cancer.

It does cost the consumer more to achieve the same calcium intake by purchasing federal standard milk versus California standard milk, since two cups of one percent California standard milk provided nearly the same calcium nutrition as three cups of one percent federal standard milk.

In terms of the cost of fortification, data from the California Department of Food and Agriculture indicate that fortifying reduced fat, or two percent milk, adds seven cents per gallon to the retail cost of milk, and fortification of low-fat milk, or one percent milk, adds fourteen cents per gallon to the retail cost of milk.

In summary, the Department believes that calcium intake is inadequate in the majority of individuals across all ethnic, age and income groups in California, placing them at risk for bone fractures and resulting disability in life.  In addition, the concern about obesity in all age groups has been highlighted recently in the media as a major public health issue.  It is a strong interest in the public health community to promote the consumption of lower fat foods.  If milk fortification standards are changed in California to the federal standards, it is possible prices may decrease and the consumer purchases will increase as a result.  It is also possible, however, that reducing the added solids in low and reduced fat milk in California will reduce the acceptability of these types to the point where the consumer demands will decrease.  To the extent that consumers intake of lower fat milk products remains constant or drops, the result may be that all Californians are at greater risk of inadequate calcium intake.  If the milk type of choice becomes whole milk, higher standard fat intake and related health problems may result.  The Department believes, therefore, that maintaining the higher standard for milk fortification is beneficial from a public health perspective.  While there is beneficial economic savings for consumers if milk prices go down, this benefit is accompanied by the assumption that consumers continue to buy milk in the same amount.  There is a public health concern for creating the potential for reduced consumption of low fat milk products, given the trend toward a reduced milk consumption overall and the rise in both calcium and fat related chronic conditions.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you, Ms. Mitchell.  Our next panel member is Dr. Gail Harrison.

DR. HARRISON:  Thank you.  I’d like to talk first about milk in public health nutrition programs in California.  Then, briefly, about the comparison of nutritional values between California milk and the rest of the country.  And finally, I’ll touch very briefly on the roles of milk and nutrition because you’re hearing about that from several panelists with largely consistent information.

First, the potential impact of lower milk prices through public health nutrition programs.  I leave it to the economists in a little while to talk about whether prices would actually come down if the standards were changed.

Milk is mandated as a required part of meals served in public health nutrition programs.  The vulnerable population served by these programs include pregnant and breast-feeding women, toddlers, children, the disabled, and the elderly.  In California, there are at least nine programs:  WIC has already been mentioned several times, school nutrition programs, including breakfast and lunch, summer food programs, special milk programs, childcare food programs, adult daycare food programs, and pregnant and lactating students meal supplement programs and elderly nutrition programs, which include Meals on Wheels and Congregate Meals.

The State of California purchases nearly 90 million gallons of milk every year to serve through these programs, and that’s exclusive of milk purchased for correctional facilities, Headstart and a couple of other uses that we weren’t able to find readily available data on.

The WIC Program in 1999, in California, bought 44.5 million gallons of milk at a cost of about $145 million.  School breakfast and lunch programs purchased only slightly less than that--38 million gallons at a cost of 

$131 million.

The state WIC branch estimates that for every ten cents per gallon change in the price of milk, or increase in the price of milk, the program spends an extra $371,000 a month.  And that same ten-cent differential prevents WIC service to 10,806 participants statewide per month.

WIC has been shown over and over again to be cost effective.  It targets women and children in their most vulnerable periods of their lives, and provides high quality food, education and healthcare referrals.  Every dollar spent on WIC services on pregnant women, as an example, has been shown to reduce direct medical care costs by between three and four dollars.  It’s really unconscionable, in my opinion, that the availability of WIC services might be limited by a price differential from milk.

We’ve compiled data on the current cost of milk for California and for Los Angeles County, for the programs other than WIC, which I mentioned, and those data are in the written materials that you have as an annex, annex #2.  The bottom line is that in addition to the cost of the WIC Program, a reduction in fluid milk prices--if it were to occur, to prices equal to that and we use Phoenix data--would save $47.7 million a year, with Los Angeles County accounting for $12.6 million of that savings.

If, just hypothetically, those savings were translated into purchasing more milk--that’s just, sort of, a graphical representation of the percentage increase in milk that might be realized by each of those programs, which is as you can see, very substantial.

Let me just turn briefly to the differences between California milk and milk in the rest of the U.S.  The differences in the standards have already been mentioned so I will not repeat those.  But the only published data that I was able to find derived directly from chemical analysis of California milk is in a 1992 paper by Green, Jensen and Park.  It appears in the Journal of Dairy, Food and Environmental Sanitation in October of 1992.  This is a peer review journal and Drs. Green, Jensen and Park, were--perhaps, still are, I don’t know--with the California Department of Food and Agriculture.

In this study, which was initiated by the Milk Advisory Board and CDFA, they collected 80 samples of all types of fluid milk from the major processing plants throughout California and analyzed them using standard scientific methods for a variety of nutrients.  Their purpose was to ascertain whether the U.S. Department of Agriculture published tables for protein fortified milk accurately reflected the composition of California milk.  They concluded that the USDA tables generally were accurate for that purpose.  Their data differed a bit from values that are obtained when one estimates nutrient composition by calculating for what’s on the label in California, but since the data in this paper represents actual analyses in a laboratory, and the standards have not changed since that study, I believe that these were the most accurate figures available to make a comparison.  And the table that you show here compares just for nutrients--fat, calcium, sodium and cholesterol--the data from that paper represented as California milk, and the second column under U.S. is data from the U.S. Department of Agriculture’s handbook reflecting the composition of milk in the rest of the country also based on chemical analyses, they don’t represent the minimum standards here.

In any case, that’s a little complicated table, but the thing that I want to point out is there’s only one real significant difference in it and that’s the one that’s been pointed out just now, and that is about 50 milligrams more calcium in one percent milk in California.  This particular analysis doesn’t show any major difference in two percent milk.  There are, has been mentioned before, differences due to season and geographical area and so on that may account for minor differences in compositional data.

SENATOR COSTA:  Excuse me.  I know we’re going to hold our questioning until after the panel members, but I just want to understand the graph.  What you’re saying is, is that the assumptions are based upon this table that California standards for one percent and two percent milk produced negligible amounts of increased calcium?  I’m just trying to understand.

DR. HARRISON:  No.  That’s a very good question.  And the answer to that is --

SENATOR COSTA:  I’m trying to understand the point you’re making, I guess.

DR. HARRISON:  Okay.  Actually, I just went looking for data that were based on actual chemical analysis of California milk, and these are what is available in a peer reviewed source.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  So this is based on the chemical analysis?

DR. HARRISON:  Yes.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  This was done in 1992?

DR. HARRISON:  That’s correct.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  All right.

DR. HARRISON:  In any case, even if the differences were, or are, as high as they appear to be, and the current estimates that CDFA and CDHS have provided to the committee, I still believe that that is relatively inconsequential in terms of the overall public health picture, and I’ll try to elaborate.  It’s a different issue.

SENATOR COSTA:  Okay.  But that’s a different issue than whether or not, they’re 27 or 33 percent higher.

DR. HARRISON:  Right.  Which I don’t think we need to spend a great deal of time on, except to say that --

SENATOR COSTA:  Okay.  But this graph doesn’t dispute that fact, does it, whether it’s 27 or 33 percent on one or two percent?

DR. HARRISON:  Well, it certainly says, in those samples, which were analyzed by CDFA, and the standards haven’t changed since then, the only real significant difference was in one percent milk.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Now, that difference in that one percent milk, which is calcium in terms of milligrams, the U.S. milk has 300, California milk has 352.  The difference of 52 milligrams, would that be considered inconsequential?

DR. HARRISON:  It would be considered inconsequential for those who actually consume that much, yes, of that particular type of milk.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  So that’s basically based on consumption levels?  So, if somebody does not consume that much milk, if they were to get, whatever, two glasses a day, the difference of 52 milligrams of calcium would make a difference?

DR. HARRISON:  It’s enough to make a difference.  The recommended intake for most adults is 1,000 milligrams.  That gives you an idea the order of magnitude that we’re talking about.  A normal glass of milk, as you can see, contributes around 300 milligrams.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  For adults, what is the recommended allowance for, I would assume, for children, the calcium would be higher?

DR. HARRISON:  It varies.  For young children it’s lower because of their smaller body size, in the neighborhood of 600 milligrams.  For teenagers, it’s higher than for adults, so there is some variation around that.

Let’s go on to --

SENATOR COSTA:  Excuse me.  I’m just confused.  What you’re trying to demonstrate on the graph--you’re not disputing the higher calcium standards in one and two percent milk in California?

DR. HARRISON:  No.

SENATOR COSTA:  So what are you trying to demonstrate by this graph then?

DR. HARRISON:  Only that the single piece of data that I was able to find in the peer reviewed literature that actually analyzed California milk shows somewhat of a lowered difference than is being represented on the labels, probably derived in a different way.

SENATOR COSTA:  Okay.

MR. BOCCODORO:  Can I clarify this, Senator?

SENATOR COSTA:  Just a quick point.

MR. BOCCODORO:  It will be a quick point.  This is a very significant point.  If you put the chart back up, what the study did, and we spoke to Lee Jensen, and I know that Dan Web has confirmed this, and I believe DHS has looked at this issue, this is not a comparison of California milk to federal milk.  This was a comparison, a chemical analysis, of California milk to the federal government’s assumption of what they would find in fortified milk such as that produced in California.  Nothing in that chart would suggest that there is actually a chemical analysis, in fact, no analysis of federal milk was done in this.  That there is actually any subtle differences --

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Percentages indicated earlier that it was a chemical analysis.

MR. BOCCODORO:  It’s a chemical analysis of California milk and the federal, or U.S. piece ,there is the U.S. --

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Can you clarify that, professor?

DR. HARRISON:  Yes, I can.  And we’re not actually contradicting each other.  This table is not from the paper, directly.  The paper was to compare exactly has been said, to the protein fortified values that are published by the USDA, and that was the purpose of the paper.  I have listed the California milk levels from that paper.  The U.S. levels are not from that paper.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Let’s agree on this piece by piece, because now I’m confused.  California milk according to this 1992 study, the California milk was studied pursuant to a chemical analysis.

DR. HARRISON:  Right.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Now, the question to you will be then, of the same 1992 study, how was federal milk studied?

DR. HARRISON:  They did not study federal milk.  They used the protein fortified values from published tables.  Those are not the numbers that you see on this table.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  So then, where are the numbers?

DR. HARRISON:  They’re in the paper that I provided to you.  I believe, Senator Escutia, your staff has a copy of that paper.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Do you have a chart showing those numbers.

DR. HARRISON:  No.  I did not put them on a chart because I thought the relevant comparison was the non-fortified milk that would likely be marketed in California.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  One percent milk and non-fat milk.

DR. HARRISON:  That’s what the U.S. figures represent here.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Okay.  I see what you’re saying.

DR. HARRISON:  Is that clear to you?  It’s confusing.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  It is confusing.  Yes, because I would like to--just overall, as a policymaker, we start making comparisons or assertions--I would like to compare from within the same crate of oranges, or the same crate of apples, and not mix things up.  Second of all, with regard to the young man that was here before, I know that this issue is extremely politicized.  I’m just here to try to find out the truth.  So if you could just allow me, sir, Michael, to just run the hearing.  You had your say.  I’m sure you can have your say later on when you have some concerns.  But, now that we kind of clarified as to where the doctor got these figures and what type of analysis was done, I’m curious in terms of asking Ms. Mitchell, and I know that we’re going against our policy of asking questions until the panel is over, but Ms. Mitchell made some assertions over nutritional value in terms of analysis done by Department of Health Services.  A very simple question, the Department of Health Services did this pursuant to a chemical analysis, or what?

MS. MITCHELL:  No, Senator Escutia.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  No chemical analysis.

MS. MITCHELL:  The Department has not done any independent studies of the nutritional composition of California.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Would you consider that a chemical analysis is a far more accurate reading than otherwise?

MS. MITCHELL:  As I testified, we believe that there is a variety of values that are in the literature, and that some additional study may be warranted.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  All right.  But I’m glad that we somehow got this under control a little bit, in terms of what it really means.  You may continue, Professor Harrison.

DR. HARRISON:  Let’s turn now to the potential impact on calcium intake of lower milk prices if they were to occur.  The USDA’s Economic Research Service in a study published this year, estimates that for every ten percent decrease in the price of dairy products, there is an increase in per capita calcium availability of just over 24 milligrams.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Now who indicated that?  The USDA?

DR. HARRISON:  The U.S. Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service.

Using this estimate, a 30 percent decrease in the price of California milk, hypothetically, would result in an increase intake of around 

73 milligrams.  That gives you an idea of the relative importance of the 

50 milligrams.

That 73 milligrams is about what you would get from two extra ounces of fluid milk per day.  It’s not a huge amount.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  So you’re saying that a decrease in price would result in an increase in milligrams of calcium?  Which would be more than the 50 milligram difference that was sited there in the previous --

DR. HARRISON:  If we assume the average adult woman in this country consumes about three-quarters of a glass of milk a day, about six ounces.  If we assume that California adults consume slightly less, as has been demonstrated, I, just to calculate it, for the hypothetical California woman who might consume four and a half ounces a day, if she consumed an additional two ounces, based on USDA’s estimate of what might happen were the price of milk to change that much, and based on the data of the previous table from the California milk, this indicates the amount of calcium that we might expect to increase about 75 milligrams a day; 73 for whole milk, 75 for the others, compared to the advantage from that green paper from CDFA, that shows the advantage for California milk over federal milk.  In any case, two ounces is, at least, as significant as the difference in standards.

To turn to the nutritional significance of fluid milk in the U.S., I’ll show you some data for women and children, who are the most vulnerable group.  This table is constructed from the 1994-96 national survey by the USDA on food consumption, and it shows that while fluid milk contributes only six percent of calories, dietary energy, for adult women who are not pregnant, it contributes more than a third of calcium intake--if you go over to the calcium content in the column--pregnant women consume more milk and therefore get both more calories and calcium from that source.  Children, and I put all children together here, ages two to seventeen, derive about 11 percent of their calories from milk on average, but about half of the calcium intake.  Milk also contributes disproportionately to intakes of protein, phosphorous, riboflavin and vitamin A, but these nutrients are not low in U.S. diets, and there are lots of other food sources for them.  Calcium intake, as has been stated, it really is the important issue here both because many of us consume less than we need, and also because milk products are the most important single source.

As shown in the next table, and this has been mentioned already by Ms. Hattner for teenagers, but this shows you the estimates for women and for children.  As a whole, 80 percent of the women, 86 percent of children, do not meet their recommended intakes.  But probably more important, 41 percent of women and 20 percent of children, nationally, less than half the recommended intake, a level that I think is easy to see would be compromising.

Why is calcium intake important?  There is abundant evidence to show that it’s important in osteoporosis, as has been mentioned.  I won’t go over again what osteoporosis is.  I will just add the mention that it is the prime cause of disability, hospitalization and healthcare costs in the elderly population, both men and women, but disproportionately affecting women.  Calcium intake is also important in blood pressure regulation and may be important in colon cancer as was mentioned by the previous witness.

All this evidence has prompted the Food and Nutrition Board of the Institute Medicine to raise the recommendation, for the U.S. and Canada, for calcium intake for most population groups.  The optimal calcium intakes are estimated to range from about 500 milligrams for very young children to 1,000 milligrams for adults, and even higher for pregnant and breast-feeding women, adolescents and for post-menopausal women who are not taking hormone replacements.  It’s not difficult to visualize the importance of milk when a single glass contributes about 300 milligrams, or about one-third of that daily need.

Since 1970, approximately, the typical American diet has decreased in fluid milk, as we proved previously.  What we haven’t heard is that there has been quite an increase at the same time, in the consumption of cheese.  Calcium intakes have actually been fairly stable, but there has been a shift from fluid milk to other sources, primarily cheese, much of it California cheese, I’m sure.

SENATOR COSTA:  We hope.

DR. HARRISON:  And California residents have shown an even greater decrease of fluid milk consumption than the rest of the country.

Since 1989, the Department of Health Services in Sacramento has conducted a survey every two years of the eating practices of the representative sample of adults in the state.  And this graph is from a report of those surveys.  The white line is the overall state, the state average, and what’s on the left axis there is the percent of people.  But the bottom line here is that only about half of California adults report drinking any milk yesterday, which is the form that the question is asking on the survey.  That proportion has remained flat since the increase that occurred in 1991, after the introduction of one percent milk to the market.  In 1997, in this survey, 23 percent of adults reported consuming no milk, yogurt or cheese the previous day, a proportion which has also been unchanged since 1991 in spite of dairy industry efforts, nationwide and in California, through very good and clever media campaigns to try to impact consumption.

I’ll wrap up and simply say that my conclusions are that milk is important.  Most of us need to drink more of it, particularly, women and children.  Per capita consumption in California is lower than the rest of the country, in spite of the fact that we produce more milk in California than in any other state.  The nutritional differences between California milk and what’s defined in the rest of the country in my judgement are not important and relatively inconsequential compared to the advantage that would be derived from an increase consumption of milk, taking that extra swallow of the milk or the extra glass.  And certainly not least, the higher prices of fluid milk in California results in approximately $4.5 million extra costs for the WIC Program every year and almost $50 million for other public health nutrition programs; money that could be better spent expanding coverage, improving programs and otherwise investing in the lives of children, the elderly and the other vulnerable populations.

Thank you very much.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you, Dr. Harrison.  Our next witness is Miss Jo Ann Hattner, again.

MS. HATTNER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I want to talk about children, which is really my interest and my specialty.  And I wanted to relate a little bit back on my personal experience.  When I was being raised as a child in Alabama, milk was our beverage and we probably had four glasses of milk a day between what we had in our school lunch program and what we had at home.  And then as I went on to study nutrition and became interested in children’s nutrition and pediatric nutrition, I read more and more studies and documentation of the necessity of calcium.  And the most recent recommendation which you asked about in children today is now 1,300 milligrams of calcium, which is close to what you would get out of those four glasses of milk.  But as we have heard today, our kids aren’t getting four glasses of milk today.  Other foods have moved into the diet, and as we have seen through reports since the 1970’s, our fluid milk intake is decreasing.  The mention of other foods bringing the calcium to the diet, I think is important, and that’s true--macaroni and cheese and pizza, and the high consumption of cheese--but I also remind you that our epidemic of childhood obesity is our number one public health concern.  To put more cheese into that child’s diet also means, normally, to put more fat into that child’s diet.  So should we not look to the low-fat dairy products to be fortified with more calcium in order to enhance our childhood nutrition?  And I think that’s a major point when we look at childhood obesity.

I have also given written answers to the questions which you asked me, and one of the points that I wanted to make with regards to childhood obesity is that one of the things that we look at as pediatric nutritionists is what we call nutrient density--like what are you getting out of a food or beverage in terms of calories versus calcium?  And one of the things that I looked at, is if I get 90 more milligrams of calcium for an additional 30 calories in that one percent milk, what does that mean as a calorie ratio to calcium?  It means I get three milligrams of calcium per calorie.  If I were to select a calcium fortified beverage, for example, calcium fortified orange juice, I get a decrease ratio, about two milligrams of calcium per calorie.  So when we look at nutrient density, this is a real bargain as far as calcium and calories.  Is that understandable to the panel?  That a mother goes to choose calcium fortified orange juice, she’s not really getting that same ratio. She’s also not getting a lot of other nutrients in that juice--the protein, and the B vitamins and the vitamin D supplementation fortification.  These are important nutrients that go along with calcium, bone growth, normal growth and development.  I have actually had, in my pediatric practice, kids with growth failure whose parents were told, “You’re child doesn’t like milk, just give him fortified calcium orange juice.”  There’s only one nutrient there.  The other nutrients are in the milk.  So it’s a natural carrier of calcium.  A natural carrier.  Shouldn’t it be fortified in our milk, versus all of the fortification that is going on in other foods?  You can pick up a cereal box today designed for children that says, “extra calcium” on it.  And again, if you look at that calorie/calcium ratio, it gets down to a much lower ratio than what we have in our milk today.  So I don’t think that we can use the argument that if we fortify our milk with non-fat solids, we’re going to contribute to the obesity of our children by that 

30 extra calories.  I think the nutrient advantage far out weighs the 30 extra calories.

The other thing that’s coming out in surveys and trend surveys is that Americans are looking to lower fat milk as being healthier milk.  And we know that mothers are the primary influencer of the child’s diet.  So the more parents, the more mothers, that are going for the lower fat milk, the more children will go to the lower fat milk.  And this has been shown in surveys, as well, that this is coming up.

One of the things that the addition of non-fat solids does to the lower fat milk is improve the taste.  And one of the things we know from studies is that if you want a little toddler to take the lower fat product, it’s got to taste good.  So that is also a benefit to the California milk as well.

I wanted to show what the California milk standard does when related to this 1,300 milligrams of recommended intake.  I don’t know that we’re going to get our kids to take even more glasses of milk during the day.  But if we look at what the ratio is, this is the one percent milk; so, if you’re taking the three glasses of California milk, you’re going to get 80 percent of that 1,300 milligram recommendation.  But if you’re taking three glasses of the federal standard milk, it’s only 60 percent.  Same quantity, but a 20 percent difference.  So I think that’s really important to total diet and that’s what a nutritionist looks at--total diet.  Like, what does this contribute to the total day’s intake?  Now remember that this milk is also being served in schools.  And again, there are a number of studies that look at about 77 percent of a child’s calcium intake may be coming from the school program--school lunch, school breakfast--other foods in there as well as milk, but contributing to about 77 percent of total calcium intake.

The two percent milk, I just wanted to point out the difference there.  Again, 1,300 milligrams recommended dietary allowance for the children, 73 percent will be provided by the California milk in three glasses, and again, of course, the same figure for the federal milk, which is 60 percent.

I think it’s significant enough to keep California standards, and I do not understand why, at this time, when foods are being fortified with calcium--children’s cereals, infant foods, toddler foods, juices, water--in order to get calcium in.  Why would we want to take calcium out of its most natural carrier, which would be milk, and particularly, because this milk is being served in institutions, and a child is not going to have a choice as to whether or not they have a California standard, or a federal standard, if both of these milks are allowed in the California economy?

SENATOR COSTA:  Thank you.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you.  Our next witness is Ms. Robin Reiner.

MS. ROBIN REINER:  Good morning.  I’m Robin Reiner, Executive Director of the Osteoporosis Foundation in Oakland.  Our abbreviation is FOR, so I don’t have to say, “The Foundation for Osteoporosis Research and Education.”  We are a non-profit, dedicated to eliminating osteoporosis as a major health problem.

I think, by now, you have already heard what osteoporosis is, it’s a systemic disease.  It affects your skeleton.  It makes your bones weaker so you’re more likely to fracture something.  It’s very common, and it’s getting much, much worse.  It’s reaching epidemic proportion.

I’ll talk briefly about the cost to the state of California about this epidemic.  Just know for all the people sitting in this room, one out of two of you that are women, after the age of 50, will have an osteoporotic fracture.  One out of five men-- men, you’re not off the hook either--one out of five men in this room will have an osteoporotic fracture after age 50.  For those of us who are getting to that age or beyond, we can do something now by making sure we’re getting enough calcium, but for the ones who really need to pay attention to it the most, and the reason why I’m here today, is to talk about the kids, in particular.

In my view, we know that calcium is very important in forming bones early in life.  By about age 25, for those of you in the room who are still in their 20’s, by about age 25 you’re done.  You’ve built about as much bone as you’re going to build for the rest of your life.  Between age 25 and 50ish, you’ll hopefully maintain good bone mass by getting enough calcium, exercise and vitamin D.  After around age 50 or 60, when menopause hits in women, we will all inevitably loose bone.

This chart shows you, you’re building this bone up to about age 30.  By age 30, you’re done.  You’re in a holding pattern from peak bone mass to menopause, and from there on, we’re all going to lose bone.  It’s like a bank account.

One of the questions that you had asked me to address is what happens later in life as certain things start cutting into your bones like excessive smoking, drinking, whatever, it’s like a bank account.  If you didn’t put enough calcium in as a kid before age 30 at the most, than later on in life we all start taking calcium out of our bones, you won’t have enough to deduct.  You will end up with osteoporosis and things like hip fractures.

Hip fractures start hitting around this part of the graph, and I want to show you what the cost of that is in California.  I’ve heard a lot of talk this morning about the cost of milk with higher protein, higher calcium, whatever.  If I heard Dr. Harrison correctly, I think she said that the state spends something like $90 million a year on milk products for youth, for elderly.  Was that about the right number?

DR. HARRISON:  90 million gallons.

MS. HATTNER:  Oh, 90 million gallons.  Sorry, I thought I heard 

$90 million.  Here’s what we will be spending if we don’t do something about the calcium crisis.  Between 1995 and 2015--that’s a 20-year span--we can expect to see 534,000 hip fractures.  I’m not even talking about wrist fractures, spine fractures, the things that cause what we call Dowager’s Hump, where women bend over.  You know, they get stooped over.  534,000 hip fractures, what does it cost to take care of those?

In 1995, we spent $494 million in California taking care of hip fractures.  If we don’t do anything, by the year 2015, we will spend 

$2.1 billion a year.  That’s a lot of money, money that could, indeed, be spent on the WIC Program and other valuable things, but we’re spending it taking care of hip fractures.

A hip fracture.  Well, you say, “Okay, you broke something, we can fix it, right?”  Well, no, not always.  In this 20-year period we could expect to see 65,000 women die because of that hip fracture, not because of any other natural causes, this is 65,000 additional deaths strictly related to the hip fracture.  A hip fracture can be deadly.  Osteoporosis is not just a, “Oh, it’s a disease.  It happens.  Your bones get brittle.”  You break something, it can lead to death and a lot of painful conditions long before you die.  The total cost of care, if we keep going at the present rate, using 1995 statistics, in California, over the next 20 years, to take care of hip, wrist and spine fractures, we will spend $23.8 billion, and most of that is going to come out of state funds because most of it is happening in the older age groups, which means a lot of them are now Medicare and Medicaid eligible.  A lot of these folks, about 50 percent, will end up in long-term care and will never get out of it after a hip fracture, so they will end up spending state dollars for their hips and their other vertebral fractures, etc.  So we can either spend a little more money now--I’m not an economist.  From what I’m understanding, we’re spending roughly the same amount on milk here in California as other places.  It’s not a huge difference.  We can spend more, even if we have to spend a little more now--that’s the economist’s expertise--but we can spend a little more now, giving kids what they need to build a good, strong, bone bank, or we can spend a lot more down the road.  I just mentioned something about the economic cost, I haven’t mentioned anything about the emotional cost from the physical suffering.  If anybody in this room has any relatives who have broken a hip or are starting to get vertebral fractures, it’s extremely painful, and it doesn’t have to happen, which is exactly why FOR exists, is to tell people take steps now.  Osteoporosis is preventable.

My overall punch line for this morning is just this, it’s very simplistic:  calcium is good.  We all know this.  No one is disputing this.  Calcium is good.  More is better.  It’s very simple in my perspective.

Thank you.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you, Ms. Reiner, for your very concise testimony.  I’d like to ask a couple of questions to Ms. Hattner, and it’s basically will be following up on Ms. Reiner’s conclusion that calcium is good.  You made the argument about fortification, fortification of milk versus fortification of orange juice with calcium added.  But that, in your opinion, the best conductor for calcium to really, really be effective would be milk.  I don’t understand how someone fortifies orange juice with calcium.  I’m just assuming that they just--I don’t know, they add some calcium and there it is.  From what I have been reading, that’s not the same--they don’t do that with milk.  They not only add the calcium, but they also add the solids, not fats.  Now, don’t you think that that addition of solids, not fat, and the excess sugar and calories that result of that, don’t you think that’s kind of like a bad thing?  Or do you, basically, really feel that, in your opinion, if it results in more calcium, you’re willing to assume the risk of more calories and more sugars in order to absorb that more calcium?

MS. HATTNER:  Well, let me go back.  It is in my written answers to the questions, but I think we need to understand a little bit about why the solids are added.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  From what I understand then that goes to my question to you, that these solids were added sometime in 1960 - 1962, or whatever, and I want to find out why.  Why were they added?  Do you know that, Ms. Hattner?

MS. HATTNER:  My understanding is for consistency in milk and consistency in product.  Milk is about 88 percent water and 12 percent 

solids--and again, this is in my written testimony-- butterfat is about 3.5 percent with 8.5 as the solids, not fat.  That includes the protein, the calcium, the lactose and the minerals.  Now additional solids are added as the butterfat is removed.  So as the butterfat comes out of the one percent milk, as it comes out of the two percent milk, the solids are added, which gives a more consistent product and also gives what is considered ___________

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  What do you mean by that consistent product?

MS. HATTNER:  With the consistency of solids.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Okay.

SENATOR COSTA:  More body.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Is that what you mean, more body?  We’re talking here about texture?

SENATOR COSTA:  Right.  If you’ve ever seen the non-fat milk, it’s almost white.  It’s almost transparent.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Very liquidy.

SENATOR COSTA:  Right.  And the one percent and the two percent milk has the similar consistency as whole milk.  My mother has osteoporosis and has had to deal with it, and my grandmother died of a hip fracture, so I’ve had little anecdotal experience, but her doctor, who specializes in geriatrics, recommends that she drink the one or the two percent milk, and she’s 84, God bless her, and I buy her a lot of it.  But the fact is, is that the non-fat has--the solids that you put in are the calcium and the other additions that make the milk--the nutrients that make the milk healthy and the 27 to 33 percent more calcium.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  You said, Mr. Costa, that the solids that are added are the calcium?

SENATOR COSTA:  I’m sorry.  I misspoke.  They’re the nutrients.  The solids that are added are the nutrients into the milk.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  And that’s separate and apart from the calcium?

SENATOR COSTA:  Yes.

MS. HATTNER:  These are non-fat solids.  And in the non-fat solids is the milk lactose, which is also known as the milk sugar.  And I should point out, that whenever you see a label and it says, “Total carbohydrate 14 grams,” and underneath it says, “Sugar 13,” that is a part of the total.  Lactose is a sugar, and so whenever you see that sugar on there, it is relating to lactose.  And you probably know that lactose is the primary carbohydrate, is the carbohydrate in human milk.  So children are very adapted to being able to digest lactose.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  So when we’re hearing this term of art thrown around here, the “solids, not fat”, included in the solids is the lactose?

MS. HATTNER:  Right.  It's the lactose.  It's the protein.  It's the minerals.  For the record, there is no butterfat added.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  But you’re saying, as they do this one percent, two percent milk, they take away the butterfat, but they add solids, not fat for texture and body and bouquet

SENATOR COSTA:  Nutrients.  Vitamins.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  It’s almost like smelling a glass of good wine, right?

SENATOR COSTA:  There you go.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  All right.  All right.  I’m just trying to understand this.

But yet, when these people--not that you’re an expert in orange juice--but if orange juice is fortified with calcium and you make the case that it is, but that it’s not a good conductor of calcium when the orange juice industry fortifies the calcium--they don’t add the solids, not fat.  They just sprinkle their calcium.

MS. HATTNER:  Right.  And I’m not saying that is not a good conductor.  I’m saying, if you have choice of orange juices and you have a choice of calcium fortified versus non-calcium fortified, and you need calcium, certainly, go ahead and use the calcium fortified.  I’m saying, for the calories, it’s not a calcium bargain like the milk is, so that if we’re looking at calories and obesity in children, you’re getting more calories per gram milligram of calcium than you are in the milk.  That was my point there.

When they fortify cereals, and this question has actually been asked of cereal manufacturers, do you really look at what the calcium utilization is?  I mean, we don’t know.  And we also don’t know how much of that fortification is actually getting into the child, being utilized by the child?  We do know, certainly, that milk and lactose and a number of things in milk do seem to enhance calcium absorption and utilization.  And whenever I talk to a parent about how to get calcium into the diet, I’m going to try to use food and beverage, not supplements.  Number one, supplements are not continued to be taken on a regular basis.  Number two, they’re very expensive.  And number three, I don’t think they have the absorption and utilization that a natural food product does.

SENATOR COSTA:  You also didn’t make the price comparison on the fortification of orange juice, for example, versus one percent and two percent milk.

MS. HATTNER:  Well, we actually have a chart which looks at other beverages and what you get out of those other beverages.  And this we can give you, certainly, a copy of.

SENATOR COSTA:  We would like a copy, both committees.

MS. HATTNER:  Yes.  And all we’re doing is comparing things which our kids and teens are taking.  Here is the one percent milk, over here.  And this is the average cost of the 20 cents, and the calcium being 40 percent.  This is the cola can with zero calcium; average cost, 33 cents.  This is the average cost of a bottle of water, 33 percent, zero calcium.  How about apple juice?  Now, some apple juice is being fortified now.  But this was non-fortified with zero calcium.  This is your Yahoo, which is kind of a chocolate drink, 10 percent calcium.  And here is your orange juice, again this is non-fortified with about two percent.  So we still think that milk is the number one nutrition buy.

SENATOR COSTA:  On the cost--it’s by far the most cost-effective of the items that our children see out there, as well as our adults.  And these are the menu of choices that our children have and that we have, and of course, everyone agrees that the consumption of milk--fluid milk--has decreased over the last 30 years.

MS. HATTNER:  And I think one of our greater concerns about school children and teens is the entry of the soda into the schools; the vending machines with the soda cans, which are allowed in some classrooms, are taking a part.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  That’s very legitimate, but obviously, that’s not the focus of the hearing, here.  Ultimately, if it comes down to price differences, a good argument can be--you may agree with it or not--an argument was made, that if federal milk, the standards of which really don’t vary with regard to whole milk, but vary, perhaps, with regard to one percent, two percent milk, and it’s only maybe that I saw a 30 milligram differential in terms of calcium.  The argument could be made that if that type of milk were to be allowed, therefore giving consumers choice, using those types of federal milk prices would allow Californians to purchase more milk, and therefore if they purchase more milk, there would be the increase intake of calcium.  It’s an argument that I know you probably will not agree with, but it’s an argument that I’ve heard.  The more I look into this, the more I realize it’s a pretty close call that, frankly, things can be, in my opinion--correct me if I’m wrong, Jim--but it seems to be driven by consumption patterns.  If you drink only two cups, obviously you’re not going to get enough calcium.  If you drink four cups, of course you’re going to get calcium.  Now why is it you’re not drinking two cups?  Is it because the milk is too expensive, or is it because you just don’t like milk?  I mean, it’s just something that I don’t know the answers to, and what I’m saying is I would hope that in having this hearing, we all kind of come into it relatively open-minded and to see which is, perhaps, the best way to get the most nutritious milk to our children and our consumers.  Obviously, you would argue that California milk, because it’s more enriched, and therefore for a little bit more money, you get the added advantage of additional nutritional benefits.  Some people, perhaps, on a true low-income side of the economic ledger might argue that, perhaps, milk a little bit cheaper might, perhaps, be the difference between them drinking milk versus, say, drinking powdered milk and adding water to it.  And frankly, in terms of consumer preferences, that’s something I have no idea what the consumer would do, and I have no idea--frankly, that’s not even the focus of this hearing.  But I don’t know, the more I look at this, the more I read it, the more I think it’s very much a close call and I just don’t know how we’re going to, as a legislature, decide on this matter or not.

Yes, Professor Harrison.

DR. HARRISON:  Just very briefly.  If we were to speculate what the best milk for everybody to consume would be, given the whole overall picture of diet and health, I think we would all like to, perhaps, invent a system where non-fat milk was fortified with extra calcium and was cheaper than whole milk.  And it’s hard to reconcile that with the fact that this marginal advantage is only there for the two percent and one percent and not for non-fat milk.

I did want to introduce just one other point, very briefly, and that is, we do not have any data that can tell us that anybody in California is consuming more calcium as a result of the California milk standard.  We know that per capita milk consumption is actually lower than the rest of the country.  We know that one percent and two percent milk are preferentially served in many programs, including school meals.  But, the National Food Consumption Surveys are not designed with samples that allow you to make state estimates, so it’s not possible using those to compare --

SENATOR COSTA:  Maybe that’s an area that we should look at.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Right.  That’s an interesting question.  So you don’t know what percentages of calcium California consumers are consuming?

DR. HARRISON:  There are no state level data that allow you to make that quantitative estimate.  The survey --

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Not even for milk?

DR. HARRISON:  No.  Not on individual consumption levels.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Not even for non-milk?  Not even for fluid milk, is that the term?  Fluid milk?

DR. HARRISON:  No.  Maybe this is a subject for a future hearing, but there’s a group of us in the state government and in academia, who have been arguing for a long time that the size of the state of California makes it very important to begin to collect quantitative food consumption information on the population on a continuous basis because of exactly policy issues like this and the fact that the federal surveys, which are quite good for federal purposes, but do not allow the derivation of state level estimates.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Does the federal survey have data as to what percentages of calcium the nation as a whole is consuming in terms of the fluid milk versus non-fluid products?

DR. HARRISON:  Definitely.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  But you just cannot break it down state by state.

DR. HARRISON:  Right.  But we can answer the question as to whether a subgroup of the population is actually getting more calcium intake as the result of this difference.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Right.  Okay.

MS. HATTNER:  I wanted to respond with regards to what I consider to be the most critical group, and that is that group of pre-teen and teenage girls.  I’m going to leave it to the economist to discuss, but to my knowledge, the price of milk is not going to influence their intake.  What influences their intake is their beliefs about food, and one of the reasons that they feel that teenagers and pre-teens are shunning milk is because they look at calories and fat in foods, and they go for foods, for example, the diet soda, or something that is lower in calories or fat.  And we need to educate them, definitely, and we need to educate them about prevention.  But education and health beliefs do not always result in food choices as well.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Now, I remember that chart of yours, and I don’t have it.  Here it is.  The teenage girls ages 12 to 19, more than 85 percent of them are not receiving the recommended daily allowances of calcium.  As you well indicated, you’re not sure whether they would drink the milk because they’re more concerned about calorie counting and whatever, do you think they would drink non-fat milk?

MS. HATTNER:  Well, non-fat milk products are definitely on the rise, and we’re seeing more and more calcium supplementation in those products.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Okay.

MS. HATTNER:  I’m going to let someone else discuss the level of solids in the non-fat milk and why that level was agreed upon, which doesn’t give us the same benefit as the one percent and two percent milk.  But I do think we have to come back --

SENATOR COSTA:  It’s a nine percent, though.

MS. HATTNER:  Right.  It’s a nine percent difference.  But the others have 22 and 33 percent advantages.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Right.  Okay.

MS. HATTNER:  I think that for the adult population the non-fat may be very important to be fortified.  For children, we’re looking at the two percent and the one percent, particularly in the school-age and pre-teens, and we know that they are increasing their intake of that lower fat milk.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Good.  Thank you very much.

SENATOR COSTA:  A quick question, Dr. Harrison.  If I understand the basis of your testimony, it’s that if we go to the federal standards as it relates to our one and two percent milk, that while the calcium will be less, in the case of one percent, it’s 33 percent.  In the case of two percent, it’s 21 percent.  But that the price differential, which we haven’t spoken a lot about, will allow the consumers to purchase more of that milk, and therefore they will consume--because of the price sensitivity--they will consume more milk, and that will make up for the difference of the less calcium.  Am I understanding is that part of the basis of your testimony? 

DR. HARRISON:  Yes, exactly.  And we’ll leave it to the economists to address whether the price would actually come down and how much.

SENATOR COSTA:  Which is another debate.  And as I mentioned, price dropped another 50 cents per gallon last December 1st, and it’s going to drop 15 cents on January 1, and I guess we’ll see what happens on that point.  Let me then ask you a question, and I’m trying to follow the deductive logic, we’ve talked about whole milk in California, and I think we all agree that there’s not much difference between the federal standard of whole milk and California standard whole milk, and you said that 60 percent of the milk consumed in California is whole milk.

DR. HARRISON:  No.  I actually --

SENATOR COSTA:  Of combination.  I’m sorry.  I’m corrected.

DR. HARRISON:  Whole milk is about 40 percent of fluid milk sales.  Non-fat milk is about 16 percent, so together they’re about over half.

SENATOR COSTA:  Okay.  The price variation between Phoenix in Arizona, the price of whole milk versus Los Angeles price of whole milk, varied from 60 cents to $1.03 per gallon in the most recent surveys that I have here before me.  If the standards for the whole milk are not significantly different, how do you account for the variation as it relates to the price?

DR. HARRISON:  I’m not sure I understand the question exactly.

SENATOR COSTA:  If the whole milk standards are similar, California whole milk to the federal standards, which are sold in Phoenix, yet the price is anywhere from 60 cents to $1.03 per gallon difference, if the standards are the same, then it seems to--I mean, your logic before is if we reduce the federal standards on price--I mean on one percent and two percent milk, that the price will drop.

DR. HARRISON:  I get your point.  No.  Actually, my point was, if the price of fluid milk drops, then the consumption of milk would logically increase across the board, including whole milk and otherwise.  The price differential with the same standards simply means that California consumers are paying more for the same nutrients.

SENATOR COSTA:  I understand that, but the standards are the same, in essence, for whole milk, and yet there’s a price differential.

DR. HARRISON:  Right.  That’s right, which means California consumers are paying more for the milk, and ultimately, consuming somewhat less.

SENATOR COSTA:  Right.  But my point is, I don’t think it’s because of the standards that there is a difference in the price of milk, is my point.

DR. HARRISON:  That’s probably an issue for the economic panel.

SENATOR COSTA:  Well, I know.  But you’re making the argument that if the standards are changed, the price of milk will be lower.

DR. HARRISON:  No.  The argument I was making was that if the price decrease resulted in even a two ounce per capita increase in milk consumption, we would see an advantage in terms of calcium intake.

SENATOR COSTA:  But the fact is--is for whole milk, the standards are in essence the same and there is a significant price difference.

DR. HARRISON:  That’s right.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  So then maybe we ought to allow federal whole milk to come to California, if there is no nutritional differences, but the prices are lower.

SENATOR COSTA:  Well, there are other factors, as I stated in my opening statement on how we price milk in California.  And if you look at the other graph here that we have, in terms of what the farm gate prices are to the dairymen, page five of the handout that we have there, that talks about that--I mean, I’m willing to work with all the folks here, in terms of the complexity of this issue, but in Phoenix, the average price is $2.23.  The farmers in Phoenix receive 54 cents of that.  In San Diego it’s $2.89.  The farmers receive 36 cents.  In Sacramento, it’s $2.63.  The farmers receive 

42 cents, and where you see the variation, when you look at the breakdown between those monies, the charges to the cooperatives, to the processors, where you see a big variation is the percentage that is received by the retailers.

SENATOR ESCUTIA:  I see it.  I see it.  Okay, well, then maybe, I think this might be a good segue to go to our next panel which is the economists.  Thank you so much, ladies.

Our next panel will be some economists and other representatives to discuss the impact of milk prices on public health--out-of-state milk.  And we have, again, Ms. Mitchell, with the Department of Health Services.  We have Professor Gary Galles, from Pepperdine University.  Mr. Bob Reynolds, a food marketing economist, and we have Lynne Frazier, President of the California WIC Association.  Thank you so much, ladies and gentlemen.  And also a representative from Food Advocates, Mr. Sharp.

Ms. Mitchell, you open again.

MS. TAMERON MITCHELL:  Thank you, Senator Escutia, and again, Senator Costa.  My name is Tameron Mitchell.  I am Deputy Director of Primary Care Family Health, the Department of Health Services.  And this time I’ll be speaking about the WIC Program, which is a program, a supplemental nutrition program for women, infants and children that is administered by the Department of Health Services in California.

WIC is a federally-funded supplemental nutrition program providing nutrition education, nutritious foods, and referrals to health and social services to low-income, pregnant, post-partum, nursing women and their infants and children up to the age of five years.  California currently serves 1.2 million participants per month, which is approximately 72 percent of the WIC eligible population in the state. We estimate that there are an additional approximately 460,000 low-income women, infants and children eligible for WIC services who do not now receive them.

In California, WIC is 100 percent federally funded.  It was funded by the United States Department of Agriculture at a level of $699 million of which approximately $523 million of that was for food and $176 million for nutrition education services--nutrition services and education for the most current fiscal year--the federal fiscal year, 1999.

The WIC food package includes specific nutritious foods, including milk, eggs, cheese, fruit juice, adult and infant cereal and infant formula.  These foods supplement participants diets with nutrients needed during pregnancy and during critical growth and development periods in the lives of infants and children.

Milk is an essential part of WIC’s food package, with California WIC Program paying for approximately 45 million gallons of milk this past year at a cost of approximately $149.8 million annually.  WIC reimburses grocers for the price of the foods that are bought by WIC participants, limited by a specific maximum reimbursement amount for each food item.  Maximum values reflect the grocers prices throughout the state to insure that clients have access to WIC’s foods in remote areas of the state and other areas where there may be high costs.

The impact of fortification--of fortifying reduced fat and low-fat milks with non-fat dry milk solids, according to the California Department of Food and Agriculture, as I stated earlier--is that for the fortification of reduced fat, or two percent milk, increases the price--the retail price of milk on average of seven cents per gallon, and for one percent milk, on average of 14 cents per gallon.

The Department does not have data, and we do not know the extent to which WIC participants purchase whole versus reduced fat varieties of milk.  We only know the total amount of milk that is purchased.  We therefore assume that WIC participants purchase milk similar to California’s general population.  So, of the 45 million gallons of milk purchased annually by WIC participants, we estimate that about 13 percent, or 13.9 million gallons are reduced fat milk, 5.8 gallons or 31 percent are low-fat or one percent milk.  Given though the increase in obesity among children, which has already been described earlier, we are beginning to emphasize, very strongly in the WIC Program, for all participants over the age of two years, the importance of consuming reduced fat milk products.

Finally, in other states, including Maine and now the states belonging to the Northeast Dairy Compact which include Vermont, Connecticut, Massachusetts, Rhode Island and Maine, they reimburse their state WIC Program cent for cent when the minimum farm price exceeds a threshold level.  When the price of milk decreases below this threshold level, these states stop billing the Northeast Dairy Compact special fund.  In this way, in the Northeast Dairy Compact states, those states the WIC Programs are insulated from the state’s fluctuating milk costs.

WENDY UMINO:  Ms. Mitchell, on behalf of Senator Escutia, she wanted to ask, for every 10 cent increase in milk price, how much is the number of WIC participants reduced?  By how much for every 10-cent increase in milk?

MS. MITCHELL:  Well, I think there was data that was provided by our WIC Program to the Senator which indicated an approximate impact of about 11,000 participants.  So I assume that to be the case.

SENATOR COSTA:  Following that question, Ms. Mitchell, it’s my understanding that the WIC Program is currently experiencing a surplus and is able to serve all of the recipients at this time.  Is that correct?

MS. MITCHELL:  The WIC Program is totally federally funded and we have various--each local agency is funded at a maximum level estimated within federal reimbursement levels.  We are now --

SENATOR COSTA:  So we’re reimbursed.  So the price sensitivity part, then, that was just directed, if it’s totally federally reimbursed, then that--whether it’s 10 cents higher or 10 cents less, it’s federally reimbursed.

MS. MITCHELL:  Except it’s capped.  The federal funding is capped.  And as I testified, we do not serve the total potentially eligible population in California because of the maximum federal amount available to California.  It’s not an entitlement program in that it’s --

SENATOR COSTA:  Can you describe the cost savings.  We recently made some changes.  Senator Burton carried legislation that, I think, both Senator Escutia and I supported, that provided changes in the way milk is purchased under the current nutritional standards.

MS. MITCHELL:  Yes.  We have made some recent changes over the last several months in the way that the California WIC Program reimburses for milk.  Milk is a major part of the California WIC Program.  We did several things, one of which is in May, we reduced the maximum value--the maximum amount that we reimbursed grocers for milk for the WIC Program. So we reduced the maximum amount on our voucher from $4.19 to $3.25.  We also made some changes in our food package that requires participants to use more economical purchasing techniques such as purchasing only gallons of milk, rather than smaller quantities.

SENATOR COSTA:  There were some abuses where there were some efforts to lure folks into certain stores, and I think this attempts to address that in a meaningful way.

MS. MITCHELL:  Mostly, these activities were designed to control and limit our food cost increases overall.  We did things like --

SENATOR COSTA:  Right.  So that low-income persons would be able to make sure that they were protected.

MS. MITCHELL:  Correct.  And we required things like least cost brands, so participants would be able to purchase only the milk--the lowest cost milk in any individual store.  The other thing that we did in order to limit the degree that milk price changes would affect the WIC Program, is--we’re tracking now--when the Department of Food and Agriculture changes its prices for milk, we follow that change so that we --

SENATOR COSTA:  On that point, as I said, price now 50 cents December 1st, another 15 cents January 1, which will make it an all-time low to 15 years ago, how much additional increase with each 10 cent decrease occurs?  Can you estimate?  What’s the price of milk?

MS. MITCHELL:  I don’t really have an estimate of that.  I mean, I can’t do those numbers in my head, but there --

SENATOR COSTA:  If you could provide that information to us later on, because with a 10-cent decrease, we’re talking about a total of 65 cents; so it would be helpful to know how much increase that would provide under the WIC Program.

MS. MITCHELL:  We can certainly go back and take a look at that, Senator.

SENATOR COSTA:  Thank you.  Next witness.  State your name for the record and who you are representing.

MS. LYNNE FRAZIER:  Thank you for the opportunity to speak before the committees.  My name is Lynne Frazier, and I’m a registered dietician, and I’m employed by the Public Health Foundation Enterprises WIC Program here in Los Angeles.  We serve Los Angeles and Orange Counties.  We have a caseload of 316,825.  We’re, in fact, the largest program in California, as well as the nation.  That’s the largest local agency.


I’m here, today though, as a spokesperson for the California WIC Association, which is a non-profit membership organization representing 82 local WIC Programs, serving 1.2 million WIC participants throughout the state.


High retail milk prices cost the state WIC Program millions of dollars per year and therefore a few participants can be served.  For every 10-cent increase in milk prices, it costs the WIC Program $371,290 per month.  I think you’ve heard that statistic earlier.


SENATOR COSTA:  So if we multiply that times 65 cents we can figure out what the decrease would be.


MS. FRAZIER:  Right.  With this 10-cent increase, it’s $371,000 per month and it prevents WIC service availability to 10,806 additional participants per month.  And I just want to emphasize what this means--10,000 participants.  Even though I come from a really large local agency WIC Program, most of the programs throughout California actually are 10,000 participants or less.  In fact, the Central Valley Indian Program is about 2,000 WIC participants.


SENATOR COSTA:  Could you repeat those numbers just one more time?  You said them--10 cents --


MS. FRAZIER:  For a 10-cent increase in milk price, it costs the WIC Program $371,290 per month.


SENATOR COSTA:  And the recipients that that serves?


MS. FRAZIER:  10,806 participants.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  That those will be the recipients not served as a result of the increase?


MS. FRAZIER:  Not served.  That’s happened in the spring when the milk prices skyrocketed.


SENATOR COSTA:  And then logically for every ten-cent decrease, the same numbers would hold up?


MS. FRAZIER:  Yes.  I also want to emphasize, as Tameron Mitchell said, that the WIC Program cannot serve all eligible participants.  There is almost a half a million participants in California that we feel are potentially eligible for WIC services and they are not receiving that because of limited funding.  And when a state reaches the maximum number of participants, what we have to do is we have a priority system which is a federally required six-tiered priority system.  So this system ranks, for example, pregnant women and infants as a higher priority than say a three or four-year old child, even if that child has a health problem.


As WIC providers, we are very concerned about insuring calcium intake for our nutritionally at-risk population.  However, we do not believe that the calcium fortification issue justifies the negative impact of higher cost to both the WIC Program and to individual poor families.


We’ve already talked about the differences.  I’m not going to go into it.


From the public health standpoint, we feel that if WIC participants consumed FDA milk, they would still receive enough milk and cheese in their monthly food package to allow them to consume plenty of calcium.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Well, wait a minute.  I thought that Professor Harrison had indicated that we don’t have data that indicates calcium consumption for fluid milk versus cheese and whatever?


SENATOR COSTA:  Broken down on a state-by-state basis?


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Right.  I just want to get the data.  I just want to get to the conclusions that are sustainable by data.


MS. FRAZIER:  Okay.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Is that fair, Dr. Harrison, of what you had said?


DR. HARRISON:  Well, I think what Ms. Frazier is talking about is the combination of the food package that is supplied as a benefit for WIC.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  I thought that Ms. Frazier had said that if a WIC participant drinks federal standard milk, that person will still get enough calcium as a result of the consumption of other products such as cheese, etc., etc.  And I was struck by the comment that you made in that there is no data in California that will indicate to us the consumption patterns of Californians and therefore, the calcium intake of Californians.


DR. HARRISON:  The WIC package is designed specifically to be enriched in nutrients that are (inaudible)


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Okay.  I see what you’re saying now.  Okay, so the WIC Program, in itself, has--okay.  I understand.


MS. FRAZIER:  The food package provides --


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  The food package provide --


MS. FRAZIER:  With milk and cheese, we feel that --


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  I understand.  Okay.  Good point.  Thank you so much for correcting me on that.  Thank you.


MS. FRAZIER:  The other thing I want to say is that WIC is a temporary assistance program. They are only on the program--pregnant women, breast feeding women and children from zero to five.  It’s very temporary and I think the real issue for these poor families is the affordability of milk.  What happens to them when they’re off the WIC Program and they have to make certain choices?  So what good is the California milk going to do even though it has higher calcium levels?  What good is it going to do when they go to the grocery store and they have to buy Kool-Aid or soda off the shelf because it’s much cheaper?


SENATOR COSTA:  That’s more expensive.


MS. FRAZIER:  Pardon me.


SENATOR COSTA:  We just saw the graph that was presented earlier where soda and others are more expensive and less nutritious.


MS. FRAZIER:  Right.  Right.  And that’s what I’m saying.  When they don’t have--when they’re off the WIC Program, they’re more likely to go buy cheaper priced beverages that have no nutrition quality.


SENATOR COSTA:  No.  But the beverages aren’t cheaper, is my point.  Cola is 33 cents.  Bottled water is 30 cents and higher.  I mean, these products are higher than a glass of milk.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Yes.  But a can soda is for 12 ounces, Jim, versus an 8 ounce glass of milk.  I don’t know if there are any-- did I say something funny?  Did I say something stupid, perhaps?


UNIDENTIFIED:  No.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Okay.  Thank you.  I’m just trying to figure out the difference, also.


MS. FRAZIER:  I’m not looking at it--they go and compare a gallon of soda to a gallon of milk.  They go to the supermarket, you see a stack of two-liter sodas for 69, 79 cents; they’re more likely to take that.  Or to get some kind of a Kool-Aid, or some kind of drink that they add water to.


SENATOR COSTA:  But in fairness, we’re assuming that in terms of the factors that affect our consuming public, including our children, when you look at the multi-billion dollar media campaign that is hit with the soft drink industry and a host of these others that compete, that for a lot of kids, the soda tastes better.  I mean, I know I was forced to drink milk because my mother thought I should drink it.  It wasn’t because I thought it tasted better than the Pepsi.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  I kind of like the idea of a milk moustache on you.


SENATOR COSTA:  Well, it might work.  Who knows?  I may have a second career.  If I could only attain enough fame.


However, the fact is, that while there has been an increased effort, obviously in recent years, to advertise milk and milk products, I’m not discounting that.  If you look at the national averages on what’s spent on advertising for the soft drink industry and the other things that end up competing against us, it far exceeds what we spend on advertising on milk and milk products.  And I’m just saying that the kids just aren’t walking and they’re thinking, gee, you know--that there aren’t other factors that they’re bombarded with, and their hit with.  And then, young teenage girls, I mean, the whole diet consciousness, and the whole emphasis on the magazines; the Teen magazine, the Vogue magazine, all those kinds of things that stress 

diet--and you have bulimic people--so I mean, when we talk about diet and nutrition, all I’m trying to say is there’s a lot of other factors there that bombard our consuming public when they try to make choices, regardless of income level because they’re all subject to it.  You have more choices, obviously, if you’re middle-income or higher, but you’re still, at some level, all bombarded by it.


MS. FRAZIER:  The last point I want to make is that WIC should be held harmless from California milk standards policy.  If California decision makers do decide to continue to support the separate milk fortification standards for our state’s milk consumers, then it seems reasonable to suggest that WIC participants be held harmless from a policy that is more costly to the WIC Program and prevents WIC from reaching all those who need WIC’s lifesaving benefits.  And I’m just reiterating what Tameron said, the Northeast Dairy Compact, they--I don’t know much about it, but I’ve been to national meetings where I hear that when their milk prices go up, then the WIC Program gets some of that money.


And I thank you for your consideration.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Where is this Northeast Dairy Compact?  Where is that from?


MS. FRAZIER:  It’s Maine and the northeast states.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  In Maine, you said?


SENATOR COSTA:  The northeast states, from New York on up.


Question to the witness.  Just so I understand clearly; is the California WIC Association saying on record that we should then buy less nutritious milk for our kids?


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  I don’t think she said that.


MS. FRAZIER:  No.


SENATOR COSTA:  That’s why I wanted to ask her.


MS. FRAZIER:  When you look at the possibility that there is almost a half a million potential WIC eligibles out in our population, what we’re looking at it from is that if we can provide more services --


SENATOR COSTA:  But if we go to the federal standards, and one can argue about the benefits of the nutrition, but I think everyone agrees on the numbers with two percent at 33 percent more calcium and one percent at 27 percent--I believe those are the numbers--and if we go to the federal standards, there will be less calcium, and I want to understand what the WIC Association’s position is.


MS. FRAZIER:  Less calcium for --


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  For certain types of milk.


MS. FRAZIER:  Yes.  But not for whole milk.  And while I don’t have statistics, I only have anecdotal information from what we hear from the participants.  We try to do--we do education after they’re two-years old, to drink low-fat milk.  But the truth is, what we hear a lot from our participants is that they’re still drinking whole milk.  Now I don’t have any statistics, so I’m just telling you what I hear from the local --


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Participants are drinking whole milk?


MS. FRAZIER:  They do drink a lot of whole milk, but I don’t know the percentages.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Okay.


SENATOR COSTA:  And the good news on your numbers, because I just did the math, is that the 10 cents allows for $371,000 per month for 10,806 recipients.  With a 50-cent decrease this month, and the 15-cent decrease next month, that will allow for a total of over 70,000 new recipients to be receiving under the WIC Program, additional milk.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Well, if all these--this milk went up --


SENATOR COSTA:  It’s gone down.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Why?


SENATOR COSTA:  For a host of factors that involve federal marketing prices, as well as state factors.  There’s an over supply of milk.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Well, okay.  So now we have an over supply of milk.  And now the price is going down.  That’s the way I was taught economics.  Okay.


SENATOR COSTA:  At USC.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Right.  Okay.  All right.  You know, I think this is nice Sequa from Ms. Frazier talking about what participants are--I wanted to get to Mr. Sharp because I know that you do represent people that I represent, and that is low-income households who have a very hard time making ends meet.


MR. MATT SHARP:  Thank you, Senator Escutia, and thank you, Senator Costa, and thank you staff.  I work with California Food Policy Advocates, a statewide nutrition policy and advocacy organization that seeks to help low-income communities and low-income families improve their access to nutritious and affordable food.  We see the most effective strategies to improve nutrition among low-income Californians as to aggressively promote the federal nutrition programs, one of which has received a great degree of discussion today, WIC.  There are a number of other federal nutrition programs that low-income households access, including the school meal programs, and most importantly, the Federal Food Stamp Program.  All of these programs are underutilized in their attempts to meet the nutrition needs of households.  But most importantly, as it pertains to this issue, I need to point out that on behalf of low-income Californians, food insecurity is still a serious problem in most of our communities.  11.4 percent of Californians are food insecure, or at risk of food insecurity.  Over one million households a month access the Emergency Food Assistance Program through food pantries and soup kitchens.  The latest U.S. Conference of Mayors survey demonstrated that there’s been a 14 percent increase in the demand for emergency food in California in the last--in 1998.  Twenty percent of those requests are going unmet, so despite economic growth, hunger persists among poor Californians.  I am here to say that we believe the higher cost of milk does have a great negative impact on low-income person’s consumption of milk, but we are very pleased to hear that there have been steps taken to increase competition and reduce the costs in working on the pricing system.  And those steps that Senator Costa has outlined taking effect December 1st, and again at the beginning of the year, will have a very positive impact on a household's access to nutritious and affordable milk.


To the extent that legislation--making available the sale of unfortified milk could guarantee the prices would be driven down, we can’t say that for certain, but we’d like to think it could increase that possibility.  Other strategies, as the Senator outlined, are very effective in helping to reduce food costs which are a tremendous barrier to food security in California.


One final statistic that I think is important to bring into the context of this, as Senator Escutia hinted at, is that 50 percent of low-income Californian households spends 70 percent or more of their income on rent.  Food remains by far the most flexible item in a household food budget and therefore is the most likely item to suffer when times of great economic insecurity exists in households as they do among many Californians, with one-sixth of our population living in poverty.  In many counties, more than 40 percent of children under five are living in dire poverty.  So in our perspective, as an advocacy organization working on behalf of low-income families, working with low-income families, and working on behalf of the federal nutrition programs, all the strategies that work to reduce food costs are important in low-income communities.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you very much.


MR. SHARP:  Thank you.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Our next presenter is Dr. Gary Galles from Pepperdine University.


DR. GALLES:  Again, I’m Gary Galles, Professor of Economics at Pepperdine University.  I wanted to go through the five points that were on the handout that I have given you.  Now, in the interest of time, since we’re running late, I’m not going to talk about all of the things that are in what I submitted to you.  I will pick a couple of things in--various ones that make the point most clearly.  And I’d also like to make some comments, but they might need to be reserved until everybody is done.  Anyway, let me run through them very briefly, if I can.


The first point I argued is, that if California’s higher standards were designed to help consumers, then the history of those standards should reflect a concern to solve a problem with calcium or protein of what was the case.  I haven’t seen any evidence that that is the case, and when I come across references or statements about the early history, they read much like one I'd like to quote.  This is from the recent L.A. Times article about the appeal to the State Supreme Court of the milk price.  And this is common.  I’ve seen it in other papers.  I’ve seen it from Senator Bowen.  Basically, the same sort of statement that goes like this, “Since 1962, California agriculture officials have required dairy processors to enrich their low-fat milk with milk solids.  The process, which was initially intended to ensure that farm prices, which are linked to milk fat prices, remain high as consumers shifted to lower fat dairy products, also boosted the calcium and protein of these products.  What triggered this was consumer shifting to lower fat milk products, because fat was the main part of the value of milk at this time, that cost California dairy money.  You’re not buying as much milk.  And so what happens is, these standards were adopted to compensate dairies.  The lost revenue, when people shifted to more healthy food.”  Now I think it’s kind of interesting that it was the shift to more healthy food--lower fat milk--triggered this, which actually made it more costly for them to do it, rather than helping them get a better diet, it was a response to their attempt to shift to a better diet.  Now that explains why you see whole milk isn’t fortified appreciably, and non-fat milk isn’t.  Whole milk, to the extent they buy whole milk, they’re not losing any sales of fat because it’s the same amount of fat.  Skimmed milk, or non-fat milk, never had any fat anyway, so you didn’t need to compensate them for that.  But in two percent milk, you’re selling less fat than you would have if they were buying whole milk, so a way to compensate them is with higher fortification standards which is a way to give revenue to dairies, because they have to produce more milk to fortify.  That’s why the standards are higher for one percent than two percent.  When you reduce the fat content even more, dairies lose more money, therefore you require higher standards as a way to compensate.  So if you look at the original cause of this, it seems more consistent with reimbursing dairies for lost revenue when people started consuming less fat, rather than attempt to say, "let’s help their diets."  So the initial history doesn’t seem to match the argument that this was done to benefit consumers.


As well as the initial history, this would be then the second point, I think this is the one you asked about, Senator.  I said, maybe it wasn’t clear--I said, if California higher milk standards were intended to provide health benefits to milk consumers from added calcium, the form they take should be consistent with that goal, but they’re not.


Now, what I mean by that is several things.  First of all, if we were so concerned about calcium, wouldn’t we have standards for calcium in milk?  We don’t have any standards for calcium.  The law says it’s non-fat milk solids.  If we were so concerned about calcium, we would have standards for calcium.  We don’t.  If we were concerned about calcium, we’d test for calcium.  You saw people up here saying, “We have no evidence about that calcium.”  The argument is, we’re trying to get more calcium, we would write standards in terms of calcium, not non-fat milk solids.  We would test for calcium, not non-fat milk solids.  We don’t do either of those things.  So the idea that we’re so concerned about calcium seems inconsistent with that.  However, more than that, the standards themselves.  If we’re concerned about more calcium, we would require fortification of all forms of milk.  We would require whole milk to be fortified.  We would require non-fat milk to be fortified, as well as the others.  If we’re concerned about calcium, we would require that in all of them or none of them.  But the idea is that requiring it for one and two percent is consistent with doing this to compensate dairies for the reduced milk fat revenue when people shifted _________ .  But it’s not consistent with a real concern for calcium content, and in particular, more than half of the milk drunk in California wouldn’t have miniscule differences in content.  If we were so worried about everybody getting enough calcium, we would try and make sure that all of the milk had that higher level of calcium, and we don’t do that.  We don’t do that in any substantial way.


SENATOR COSTA:  Maybe we should.


DR. GALLES:  Well, that’s one direction you could go.  You require for all, or you could require for none.  But, if the argument for doing this to help calcium--if we’re trying to do it to help consumers get more calcium, more nutrition, whether you want to throw in protein, that’s inconsistent with that concern, especially given the high amount of milk drunk by--high amount of whole milk drunk by children.  If the children are the target group and they drink mostly whole milk, in part because it’s far cheaper than other milk in California --


SENATOR COSTA:  Yes, but when you look at the school program, it bears out that they don’t drink--the majority of milk is whole milk.


DR. GALLES:  Not when they’re in school because the state mandates that they buy it, and given that the state says, “You’ve got to buy this milk,” that pretty much explains why they buy the milk.  It’s the people who are free to choose their own milk consumption that might act substantially different.  What happens is, if the government is required to buy the milk, then it’s a matter of picking which kind of milk to buy.  They do buy the most expensive kind of milk per unit of calcium.  So they do get more calcium that way, but they also pay more for each unit of calcium that way than if they buy any other kind of milk.  Again, if the point is to give them more calcium, we wouldn’t make the highest calcium milk by far the most expensive when that’s not true in other states.  One percent milk is cheaper than whole milk in other states.  Here, it’s the most expensive milk that you can buy.  It’s not because of the ingredients being different substantially, it’s restrictive competition, but I’ll get to that briefly.  But this idea is, we see these references to this urge to get better calcium, and the fact is we’re inconsistent.  We don’t adopt policies that would do that.


One other comment on this regard about the form of this--California dairies are always saying they have up to 33 percent more calcium.  There’s only one kind of milk that’s true for and it’s about 15 percent of the market; that’s one percent milk.  The majority of California milk is not nutritionally superior, but they always say this.  In fact, I saw an editorial, I think it was in the Bakersfield Californian, that dropped the “up to”, they just said, we have 33 percent calcium as if California milk all has 33 percent more calcium.  It’s only one of the smallest parts of the milk that has that, and that’s just looking at requirements.  Milk from other states exceeds the requirements.  So if you look at the actual content of milk, whether it’s solid, not fat, or whatever, those differences aren’t even 33 percent then.  So that’s a misleading argument.  They’re trying to inform consumers and say, “Calcium is important.”  They wouldn’t lie or imply that all California is superior.


SENATOR COSTA:  Hold it.  That’s a very strong statement you made.


DR. GALLES:  Yes, it is.  It’s an earned one.  I’m not addressing it to you.  I’m saying that, if you make a big deal with saying it’s up to 33 percent more nutritious, when the majority of it isn’t, you’re misleading consumers.


SENATOR COSTA:  You add up--whole milk, six percent more; two percent milk is 21 percent.


DR. GALLES:  Those are the standards.  That doesn’t reflect an actual test.

SENATOR COSTA:  It does.

DR. GALLES: 
 On average, U.S. milk meets or exceeds California’s whole milk standards.


SENATOR COSTA:  And on the average, California milk exceeds that federal standard by the percentages that I just gave you.


DR. GALLES:  But that means the difference is smaller than those percentages.


SENATOR COSTA:  No.


DR. GALLES:  No.  The comparison you did was their standards, California standards versus U.S. standards, not actual content.  A comparison of standards when what you’re comparing it to has more calcium than the carton says when they find the test.  That means the difference is smaller.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Are you saying that if the standards say a certain percentage for certain nutrient, that, perhaps, what is inside might be more or might be less?


DR. GALLES:  Well, if it’s a standard, it has to be more, or within--if you look at the data, like for one percent milk, the standard is between 1.1 and .9.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  So your argument was that what’s being argued here is an analysis of the standards, rather than the actual, whatever, chemical content.


DR. GALLES:  There’s two things.  One of them is to say, “We have up to 33 percent more calcium,” is misleading.  It’s true, if you’re looking at a comparison of what the labels say.


SENATOR COSTA:  But California requires a sample of all milk.  When you talk about the federal, that’s an average of the standards.


DR. GALLES:  But California milk varies, too, in terms of their content.


SENATOR COSTA:  No.  That’s the point I’m making.  Our milk is tested every month.  It’s tested every month when it goes--it’s picked up everyday, and it’s tested at the processor for content, and the dairyman gets back a chart that says what the content of his milk is.  That’s how they test to see how their cows are producing at various levels, and you have an examiner that goes through that.  The records are very clear.  And the Department of Food Agriculture charts those records.  It’s not an average.  It’s a sample.  It’s a monthly sample, and it’s received everyday from the dairy.


DR. GALLES:  But if you’re arguing that one isn’t average and the one is an actual sample, the effectiveness of increased calcium has got to be virtually insignificant.  If on average the other ones meet the standards we announce as the minimum standards, then where’s the big health benefit, unless we’re way above the standards, and I haven’t seen evidence on what the actual content is  compared to standards.  That’s the comparison you want to look at, not what the labels say.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  And I was going to ask that question, Senator Costa, if you knew it was--are we, in terms of California milk, way above the standard?


DR. GALLES:  Above the California standard.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Right.


SENATOR COSTA:  We are above the California standards, and it’s a sample, and it’s not an average, yes.


DR. GALLES:  I haven’t seen data that says what the actual content is in terms of the comparison.


SENATOR COSTA:  If it’s helpful to the committee, we do have a person here from the milk institute that can clarify the difference between the state and the federal.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Yes.  That would help me out a lot, because it’s getting to your jurisdiction, Ag, and I just don’t understand it.


MS. RACHEL KALDOR:  My name is Rachel Kaldor.  I’m with the Dairy Institute of California.  And, Senator Costa is correct.  We meet an exact standard every single day, every quart, gallon, half-gallon of milk that is processed in California.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  And that’s based on the actual content of the milk at that point in time, right?  That day.


MS. KALDOR:  That is the standard identity that has to be met.  It’s a statutory standard.  It is met within that range.  The federal standard of identity is a minimum.  Milk can move up or down.  It is not nearly as consistent a product.  Ours is consistent, year in, year out; day in, day out.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  What happens if the dairy does not meet the standard?


MS. KALDOR:  They are enforced against.  They are fined and that product is pulled from the shelf.  That would be mislabeling.  And the “up to 33 percent” cannot be put on a label.  We are not allowed to do that.  That might be a promotion of some kind, but the actual food label has to be exact as to content.


DR. GALLES:  I wasn’t talking about the label.  I’m talking about constant statement by the industry that’s --


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  He was talking about the P.R.


MS. KALDOR:  Well, the statements are true; up to 33 percent is accurate.


DR. GALLES:  Could it be down to zero?


MS. KALDOR:  No, it could not.


DR. GALLES:  It could not.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Let me follow up here.  Because if it were down to zero, then it--the dairy--would have to pull the product from the market.


MS. KALDOR:  I’m talking about California milk.  That is absolutely true.  It’s consistent.  It is tested every single day.


DR. GALLES:  I think I didn’t make my question clear.  She said it’s up to 33 percent more calcium.  Could it be down to no more calcium than is in actual federal milk?


MS. KALDOR:  I’m not talking about standard milk.  I’m talking about California milk.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  She said, according to California standards --


DR. GALLES:  You say it’s up to 33 percent better.  Well, you can also say, it could be no better.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  You know what, I, frankly, my world here is, what is the world right now?  That’s my focus right now; what is the world right now, and is there more choice available for consumers, and if there is more choice available for consumers, would it be a more nutritious choice?  That is my world.  That is where I want to be.  So ultimately my question --


DR. GALLES:  Okay.  I have to move on.  I’m not as brief as I thought I was going to be.


SENATOR COSTA:  No, you’re not, and I have a plane to catch, so please move on.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  And frankly, as an economist, I’d like for you to answer the question.  If the price were to go down, does that automatically mean that consumption will go up?


DR. GALLES:  In California dairy industry, the effect of that by itself would tend to increase competition and push prices down.  However, there are other restrictions on dairy market competition that would tend to hinder that.  One of them is the standards.  One of the standards keeps out some out-of-state producers who would like to produce the federal standard milk.  However, there are also internal actions that act like tariffs on out-of-state producers.  So it wouldn’t necessarily do it in that sense.  We also have restrictions of retail pricing of milk that are over and above those under predatory pricing statutes for any other product.  You could take away the below cost standards for milk; I think which is what Senate Bill 419 would have done --


SENATOR COSTA:  Right.  Senator Speier’s bill.


DR. GALLES:  And there is still the California statute against predatory pricing, so you would be just as protected.  However, what happens is, the standard for the dairy industry has what’s basically an economically indefensible standard of meeting your cost of business.  You can’t define what your cost of business are, which is an excuse to keep prices up, saying, “Well, I’ve got to cover all my costs.”  See, there’s a whole bundle of restrictions.  This one, by itself, when people say it wouldn’t necessarily increase it, well, it would if you reduce the other barriers too.  But they’re right, we don’t know without reducing other barriers, whether this would make that difference.


SENATOR COSTA:  As an economist, how do you explain that the dairymen, according to the prices here unless you dispute those, at the farmgate receives less price for their milk than other dairymen in other parts of the country?


DR. GALLES:  Was this the part where you’re talking about reducing the price--50 cents and then 15?


SENATOR COSTA:  Right.


DR. GALLES:  Well, if you look historically at it, there’s no appreciable difference between what California dairymen, over a long-term, receive per hundred weight per gallon and others.  So, I mean, in that sense, there isn’t a substantial difference in the price the dairy farmers are paid.  That’s not where the difference arises.  However, it is true that California has the lowest cost of dairy farms in the country.  So if we’re charging the same price as other states, we ought to be charging a lower price if it’s based on the cost of production.  So to say, it’s no higher, when California is the lowest cost producer of milk in the country; it ought to be lower at that level.  But that’s a separate issue from this restriction.  This starts from once you sell the milk to the processor, to sale, right?  So that’s a separate issue and that’s set by the government, just like the rest of the United States, those prices fell.  So when we announce a lower price at that level, so do the other states.  The differences are very small at that level.  The differences arise once it leaves the dairy farm; once it goes to the processor, or to the retail sale.  That’s why you see the big markup difference between those; between the cost of milk at the farm and what is charged at the retail level.  That’s where this restriction would show up.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Professor Galles, if you would summarize so we may have a chance to allow our last witness to testify.


DR. GALLES:  You have the materials, as far as making this point.  I would make one more point, I suppose, in this.  In seeking California’s Supreme Court review of this case--of the case involving this issue --


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  And to tell the truth, I have to be honest with you, I have no idea what the lawsuit is about.


DR. GALLES:  I only need one line for this.  The attorney for the California Department Food and Agriculture states:  “The economics would drive California’s standard milk out of existence.”  If you let out-of-state producers ship in this other standard milk, he’s arguing that you would wipe out the standards we maintain.  That, by itself, is a statement that consumers don’t think the standards are worthwhile, because that is a statement is saying that’s saying consumers wouldn’t voluntarily pay what it costs to get the extra standard.  That would seem to undermine their own argument directly.  There are other things, but obviously, this went on longer than intended.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you so much for your testimony, Mr. Galles.  Our last witness is Mr. Reynolds, with the Food Marketing Economists.  Thank you so much for your patience, sir.


MR. BOB REYNOLDS:  Good morning.  My name is Bob Reynolds.  I am an independent consultant.  I work in the grocery business.  I have about 30 years in the grocery business in various avenues--14 years with Safeway.  The last 12 years or so as a marketing consultant to various organizations, retailers and people that are trying to sell products through the retail channel.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  It’s a critical issue because I remember that Mr. Costa’s chart indicates that there is a great difference of price variation as a result of the retailers.  I don’t know if you’re familiar with this chart.


MR. REYNOLDS:  I’m not certain which chart you’re referring to.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  The chart that’s entitled, “Where the Milk Dollars Go.”


MR. REYNOLDS:  I have prepared to answer the issues that were raised by the committee and have responded to those in writing, and I have an initial submission that I have made this morning that has to do with consumer choice.  That has to do with the prices that consumers are paying in California markets in comparison to other areas of the U.S., with the variety of products and prices available to California consumers and the ability of retailers to do discounting and that sort of thing.


Right off the top, however, I think that I heard Dr. Galles talking about the fact--and I think what I heard him say, and he can correct it if it’s wrong, is that one percent and two percent milk are higher priced than whole milk.  Was that your conclusion?


DR. GALLES:  There is data that it has been.


MR. REYNOLDS:  Well, in order to prepare for this testimony this morning, I’ve done an extensive set of data collection at retail.  And with that issue, in particular in mind, there is no location here or in any other state that I visited retail stores in which I have found that one percent milk or two percent milk are priced higher than whole milk.  Whole milk is uniformly priced higher than any other milk product in the retail selection.  This is drawn from a set of data that’s-- we visited somewhere in the neighborhood of 210 to 215 stores, most of which were in California, and I have personally made about 160 store visits around the state, and I have the data that I have collected in that process with me here today, if anybody would want to look for them.  There are differentials.  Those differentials are not always huge, and sometimes one percent and two percent milk is priced at the same level as whole milk in some outlets, but I have yet to find the situation, which it’s priced higher.  There are some average price comparisons that I’ve seen that do place the average price of one percent milk and skim milk, for that matter, above the price of whole milk.  But that has to do with the way that consumers choose to buy milk, particularly the evidence I associated with the California “two for,” or two gallons for a reduced price.


Before we launch into that, we have some charts that will talk about issues associated with this price situation.  We have talked on the chart that’s over there on your far right that was presented by one of the prior witnesses, about the price level of milk in California going up through time.  And it has, there’s no question that the price level of milk has gone up through time.  But the price of Fritos has gone up; the price of lettuce has gone up.


SENATOR COSTA:  Everything has gone up.


MR. REYNOLDS:  Lettuce has gone up, etc.  If you take and do a price deflated, or an index--price index deflated look at what milk prices are, and you have a chart there for real milk prices in California, you find that while the level varies from month to month, the price is relatively stable.  What we’ve done is restated prices going back to--was it 1985 to May 1999 dollars and taken the actual prices and converted them on the basis of the USCPI and see what happens.  Milk prices are relatively stable.  First point.


Second point is that when I got this assignment about six weeks ago, my in-going assumption was that milk prices in California are higher than they are other places in the country.  This was adopted, or any information that I had which was based on reading the popular literature, listening to TV and radio news, reading the newspapers, etc.  I had not looked intensively at this information myself.  So I got into it and I started looking at the indicators of what the average price levels were, looking at two principal sources; one of which is on the chart on your far left over there.  That’s one from Nielsen Data that was purchased and analyzed by the California Department of Food and Agriculture.  For your information--


SENATOR COSTA:  Page nine of your handout.


MR. REYNOLDS:  It’s page eight, I believe.  That particular one.  That two percent chart is on page eight at the top of the page.  And the other source of the data was a data that was provided by an organization which is called The International Association of Milk Control Agencies, largely an association of state departments of agriculture and others who report their milk prices back to the International Association.  We don’t have a chart blown up for the International Association, but they’re in the report I prepared here today.


What we find when we look at the prices that are for the California cities in this situation is that the prices for the California cities, as exemplified in the two percent chart over here, right square in the middle of the pack, and they are very near the U.S. average.  There’s been a fixation in this process with Phoenix.  And Phoenix prices are definitely below those--the average prices in Phoenix are definitely below those of the California cities.  Exactly why that is requires more analysis than I’ve been able to do, but I would attribute it primarily to the differences in retail competition in those areas.


The next issue has to do with what are the prices that Californians are paying for milk.  And when I went out and did this survey, what I found was quite a significant diversity of prices.  (Inaudible) for California milk prices, north and south is the Costco price as exemplified by the two-gallon price at Costco.  The current Costco price since the reductions of last week is about $2.30 a gallon in a two-gallon pack.  In the north, it’s slightly lower than that.  I think it’s $2.25, or $2.15, I can’t remember.  I have the numbers over there, but I don’t remember exactly what those are.  Essentially, all of the major chain retailers in California come back with a two-gallon price which is very close to the Costco price.  In the north, Safeway, Albertsons and Raleys have two-gallon prices which are identical with the Costco price.  Down here they’re ten to fifteen cents higher, so that at Ralph’s, where I purchased those yesterday, it’s $2.45 a gallon as a two-for.  At Vons, where I purchased these gallons yesterday, $2.42, and approximately this price is also at Albertsons.  I didn’t bring that in.  There are a number of other prices for a gallon of milk out there that sort of exemplify the choices which are available to California consumers in the manner in which they price.  Here’s Horizon organic milk at $5.79 a gallon for these products.  Here’s a product that apparently some consumers are interested in buying, a glass packed milk that apparently meets somebody’s needs, and it isn’t available in a gallon price--gallon jug.  It’s a half-gallon.  If you put it to a gallon equivalent, it puts it up at about $6.98, plus in order to buy a gallon of this you have to pay a $3.00 deposit.  You can get the deposit back if you come back to the store.


SENATOR COSTA:  What kind of connoisseur milk is that?


MR. REYNOLDS:  It’s the whole milk.  It apparently meets the same standards as other milks.  And the brand is Broquires, or Broqures.  I don’t know exactly how to pronounce the dairy.  And if you go to Sam’s over in Gardena, they have single gallons of milk priced currently, as of yesterday, which are less than the Costco price.  I don’t understand how that one is working.  The thing that I do know is that things are still shaking out with regard to the relationship of retail prices with the most recent decline in the milk prices.  In other words, everybody doesn’t have their milk prices--their new milk prices on the shelves.  The tags were not 100 percent current on all of those kinds of things when I was there.  It was clear that the prices had just been introduced.


SENATOR COSTA:  Are you offering folks free samples.


MR. REYNOLDS:  Anyone who wants milk that’s not been refrigerated is welcome to it.


In addition, if we could have the next chart, please, if you go into a typical supermarket you’re going to find somewhere between 35 and 55, depending on what they do, different kinds of milk products on the shelf.  These products vary by the--and the difference between the kinds of outlets where you can buy milk.  You can buy milk in lots of different places; supermarkets, specialty stores, etc. --


SENATOR COSTA:  You’re talking about page 16 in your --


MR. REYNOLDS:  Yes.  Page 16.


We have store brands.  We have national brands.  We’ve got packer brands, not well marketed brands, but still brands that belong to the packer.  We have price brands.  Side by side price brands.  We will have, for instance, at Vons you have Jerseymaid and their second label which is Westwood, side by side on the shelf with significant difference between them.  We have different kinds of products that offer abundant choice to these consumers; whole milk, two percent milk, non-fat, organic, protein fortified, in some cases the lactose free, the flavored and the acidophilus types.  We have different kinds of packaging.  We have different kinds of sizes and we have lots of different kinds of prices.  About 50 percent, give or take, of retail shelf space is dedicated to products which are not price-oriented products.  If the shelf space is dedicated to those products, it is clear to me that those products are being sold otherwise they wouldn’t be handled there, and they are serving somebody’s needs.  We are not talking just about a gallons business on the retail shelf.


One of the things that we want to emphasize by looking at these prices that are out there, is that these discounted prices down to the Costco price, the price of the lowest cost operator in the grocery business, they bring milk in on pallets and they put it in a cooler.  And literally, in order to find a carton of milk that I could reach yesterday, I had to climb into the cooler at the Costco store in order to find it; that is the level of service which was being offered at that store.


SENATOR COSTA:  You were at Costco?


MR. REYNOLDS:  I was at Costco for that, as compared to the mainline retailers.  The mainline retailers are allowed, under the sales-below-cost rules, to meet the cost of any operator either in the northern region or the southern region.  Not only can they, they do, or they get very close to it.  In the north they meet it exactly.  In the south they get very close to that lower price.  They can and they do discount the products.


The last point that I would like to make is that in comparison of retail prices from area to area for milk, which has been a large portion of the focus that’s been talked about here today, one simply cannot neglect the role of what I call, the “two-for.”  You can’t look at gallon prices for single gallon items of milk in California either from outlet to outlet within California, or California versus someplace else and say that the single gallon price is the price that ought to be looked at.


I have a niece that works for Fred Meyer over in Phoenix and she works for Fred Meyer in a grocery over there.  So I gave her a call the other day about how they price milk on occasion over there and I said, “Sara, do you ever discount the price of milk?”

“Oh yeah.  We discount the price of milk over here, and advertise, and we blow it out and that sort of thing.  But the thing we do, Bob,” she said, “is when we do that it’s only the first gallon that’s discounted and every gallon after that price goes back up to the regular price.”  So it’s a one-gallon kind of a situation.  They didn’t currently have anything on discount when I called her over there.


The two-for prices--the two-for items on gallon milk are the most important items in the complete mix of these products.  Because of the restrictions of the lawsuits that they’re dealing with, apparently the CDFA is very reluctant to give any information out now.  But before they clamped down on the information, I recall that I was told in excess of 60 or 70 percent of gallon milk that goes out in their meals and samples was actually milk that was in a two-for format.  And the two-for milk prices are amongst the lowest prices for gallon milk anywhere in the country.


The report that you have in front of you was pretty much put to bed last week and it was before a lot of the effect of the current round of the milk price reductions had washed through the system.  So at the end of last week and the beginning of this week, I incorporated information that my niece gave me from the situation over in Phoenix with milk prices that we picked up over the weekend and through Monday, I believe, in four areas; one was in Sacramento, one in Los Angeles, and one in Contra Costa County, where I live, to see how those Phoenix prices would--the lowest prices available at Fred Meyer in Phoenix compared to the prices in California.  And this is for four gallons trying to estimate some sort of a budgetary effect to that.  In each case the California price for four gallons in major supermarket chains was below the price--substantially below in some situations--was below the price to be paid in Phoenix for an equivalent kind of milk called the same thing.  And this was, I believe, I can’t see, it’s for four different kinds of milk products, the whole, the two percent, the one percent and the skimmed.  Now would that relationship stick forever?  I can’t tell you that.  I can tell you what I observed and the data that I collected and that is the situation as of this past weekend.  Savings, as opposed to Sacramento prices, of as much as $1.76 or about 15 percent below Phoenix prices for whole milk, for instance.


That’s about all that I have to say.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you very much, Mr. Reynolds.  And you are the last of the panel.  I’d like to thank all the panels for sharing your expertise on the subject matter.  And I would like to thank Senator Costa for sharing the dais here with me on what turned out to be a very insightful hearing.  From my perspective, I still don’t understand very much the economics that drives the pricing of this milk.  I’m beginning to learn that in this whole business of dairies, there is a stream of commerce of the dairies, the farmers, the processors, and the retailers.  And I’m beginning to understand that in the stream of commerce different price adjustments to be made.


My purpose as the chair of the Health Committee is for nutritional standards, and I found out that there is frankly no significant difference between whole milk and non-fat milk and that if there is a difference in anything it is the one percent and two percent milk, which is obviously right now being mandated to be given to school children.  So there might be some issues there.  But even if there is no significant nutritional difference between whole milk and non-fat milk, I’m just wondering if, in fact, there’s no significant nutritional difference, what would be wrong with allowing federal standards milk, out-of-state milk into California, just whole milk and non-fat milk and let the market take place--let market forces take place?  That’s obviously a question that I would like to pose there for all of you very interested members in the audience.


And on my part, I thank you very much.  Senator Costa.


SENATOR COSTA:  Thank you, Senator Escutia.  I want to thank the witnesses on behalf of their testimony.  I also want to thank our staffs, Wendy Umino and Dan Webb, who worked very hard in putting this hearing together and we appreciate that hard work.  I think a lot of information came to light, and in the wonderful part of the deliberative process that we engage in is that you can sit for three hours and listen to a lot of information and come out with different conclusions, and certainly today is no exception.  I think that it is certainly clear to me that nutritional standards are significant as it relates to the California requirements.  They are significant.  We have had a history in this state of requiring higher standards for health purposes, for a host of benefits, and milk is one of them.  One can question the motivation historically, but the fact is, the results speak for themselves, and that is, the fact is that both in one and two percent, as well as in whole milk and non-fat milk, the nutrients are higher.  Whether or not that ought to continue to be a policy of this state is one that we discuss in the deliberative body we call the legislature.  But I think that one thing is very clear to me as a result of the hearing, and that is that there is a host of factors relating to the elasticity of the pricing of milk, and certainly the last witness made that very clear.  And so if we think that we’re going to somehow increase the consumption of milk and milk products for our children, as well as for our adults and our senior citizens, who like my mother, needs it, there are a lot of other factors that come into play as to how the consuming public chooses to take their choice of calcium.  And so I think we need to understand that it’s not in a vacuum, and if we simply--even if we had the effect of making a change _______ and in fact have the ultimate result of increasing the amount of calcium consumed by Californians.  And I think that is part of the subject that’s at hand.

But, I want to thank everyone for your testimony.  I have a plane to catch and I want to wish everybody a happy holiday season and a very good New Year as we continue this discussion.


SENATOR ESCUTIA:  Thank you.
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